This PDF is a selection from an out-of-print volume from the National Bureau of Economic Research

Volume Title: Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States, Vol. 2

Volume Author/Editor: Raymond W. Goldsmith, Robert E. Lipsey, and Morris Mendelson

Volume Publisher: Princeton University Press

Volume ISBN: 0-691-04180-6

Volume URL: http://www.nber.org/books/gold63-2

Publication Date: 1963

Chapter Title: Front matter to "Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States, Vol. 2"

Chapter Author: Raymond W. Goldsmith, Robert E. Lipsey, Morris Mendelson

Chapter URL: http://www.nber.org/chapters/c5733

Chapter pages in book: (p. -21 - 0)

Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States

VOLUME II

Basic Data on Balance Sheets and Fund Flows

BY

RAYMOND W. GOLDSMITH, ROBERT E. LIPSEY,

AND

MORRIS MENDELSON



A STUDY BY THE
NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

PUBLISHED BY
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS

1963

Copyright © 1963 by National Bureau of Economic Research All Rights Reserved L.C. Card No. 63-7520

339,373 G 575 S

Printed in the United States of America

STUDIES IN THE NATIONAL BALANCE SHEET OF THE UNITED STATES Volume II

Basic Data on Balance Sheets and Fund Flows

NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

STUDIES IN CAPITAL FORMATION AND FINANCING

- 1. Capital Formation in Residential Real Estate: Trends and Prospects Leo Grebler, David M. Blank, and Louis Winnick
- 2. Capital in Agriculture: Its Formation and Financing since 1870 Alvin S. Tostlebe
- 3. Financial Intermediaries in the American Economy Since 1900
 Raymond W. Goldsmith
- 4. Capital in Transportation, Communications, and Public Utilities: Its Formation and Financing

Melville J. Ulmer

- 5. Postwar Market for State and Local Government Securities
 Roland I. Robinson

 6. Cabital in Manufacturing and Mining. Its Formation and Fin
- 6. Capital in Manufacturing and Mining: Its Formation and Financing Daniel Creamer, Sergei P. Dobrovolsky, and Israel Borenstein
- 7. Trends in Government Financing
 Morris A. Copeland
- 8. The Postwar Residential Mortgage Market
 Saul B. Klaman
- 9. Capital in the American Economy: Its Formation and Financing Simon Kuznets
- 10. The National Wealth of the United States in the Postwar Period Raymond W. Goldsmith
- 11. Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States

 Volume I, Raymond W. Goldsmith and Robert E. Lipsey

 Volume II, Raymond W. Goldsmith, Robert E. Lipsey, and Morris Mendelson

NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

1963

OFFICERS

Albert J. Hettinger, Jr., Chairman Arthur F. Burns, President

Jr., Chairman
esident
Solomon Fabricant, Director of Research
Frank W. Fetter, Vice-President
Donald B. Woodward, Treasurer
Research

Geoffrey H. Moore, Associate Director of Research Hal B. Lary, Associate Director of Research William J. Carson, Executive Director

DIRECTORS AT LARGE

Robert B. Anderson, New York City Wallace J. Campbell, Nationwide Insurance

Edwin D. Canham, Christian Science Monitor

Marion B. Folsom, Eastman Kodak Company

Crawford H. Greenewalt, E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company

Gabriel Hauge, Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company

A. J. Hayes, International Association of Machinists

Albert J. Hettinger, Jr., Lazard Frères and Company

Theodore V. Houser, Committee for Economic Development Nicholas Kelley, Kelley Drye Newhall Maginnes & Warren H. W. Laidler, League for Industrial Democracy George B. Roberts, Larchmont, New York Scherman, Book-of-the-Month Harry ClubBoris Shishkin, American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations George Soule, South Kent, Connecticut Joseph H. Willits, Armonk, New York Donald B. Woodward, A. W. Jones and Company

DIRECTORS BY UNIVERSITY APPOINTMENT

V. W. Bladen, Toronto Francis M. Boddy, Minnesota Arthur F. Burns, Columbia Lester V. Chandler, Princeton Melvin G. de Chazeau, Cornell Frank W. Fetter, Northwestern R. A. Gordon, California Harold M. Groves, Wisconsin Gottfried Haberler, Harvard Maurice W. Lee, North Carolina Lloyd G. Reynolds, Yale Paul A. Samuelson, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Theodore W. Schultz, Chicago Willis J. Winn, Pennsylvania

DIRECTORS BY APPOINTMENT OF OTHER ORGANIZATIONS

Percival F. Brundage, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Nathaniel Goldfinger, American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations

Harold G. Halcrow, American Farm Economic Association Murray Shields, American Management Association Willard L. Thorp, American Economic Association W. Allen Wallis, American Statistical Association Harold F. Williamson, Economic History Association Theodore O. Yntema, Committee for Economic Development

DIRECTORS EMERITI

Shepard Morgan, Norfolk, Connecticut N. I. Stone, New York City Jacob Viner, Princeton, New Jersey

RESEARCH STAFF

Moses Abramovitz
Gary S. Becker
William H. Brown, Jr.
Gerhard Bry
Arthur F. Burns
Phillip Cagan
Joseph W. Conard
Frank G. Dickinson
James S. Earley
Richard A. Easterlin
Solomon Fabricant
Albert Fishlow
Milton Friedman

Earn Ris Gold chief

Victor R. Fuchs
H. G. Georgiadis
Raymond W. Goldsmith
Challis A. Hall, Jr.
Millard Hastay
Daniel M. Holland
Thor Hultgren
F. Thomas Juster
C. Harry Kahn
Irving B. Kravis
Hal B. Lary
Robert E. Lipsey
Ruth P. Mack

Jacob Mincer
Ilse Mintz
Geoffrey H. Moore
Roger F. Murray
Ralph L. Nelson
G. Warren Nutter
Richard T. Selden
Lawrence H. Seltzer
Robert P. Shay
George J. Stigler
Norman B. Ture
Herbert B. Woolley
Victor Zarnowitz

RELATION OF THE DIRECTORS TO THE WORK AND PUBLICATIONS OF THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF ECONOMIC RESEARCH

- 1. The object of the National Bureau of Economic Research is to ascertain and to present to the public important economic facts and their interpretation in a scientific and impartial manner. The Board of Directors is charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the work of the National Bureau is carried on in strict conformity with this object.
- 2. To this end the Board of Directors shall appoint one or more Directors of Research.
- 3. The Director or Directors of Research shall submit to the members of the Board, or to its Executive Committee, for their formal adoption, all specific proposals concerning researches to be instituted.
- 4. No report shall be published until the Director or Directors of Research shall have submitted to the Board a summary drawing attention to the character of the data and their utilization in the report, the nature and treatment of the problems involved, the main conclusions, and such other information as in their opinion would serve to determine the suitability of the report for publication in accordance with the principles of the National Bureau.
- 5. A copy of any manuscript proposed for publication shall also be submitted to each member of the Board. For each manuscript to be so submitted a special committee shall be appointed by the President, or at his designation by the Executive Director, consisting of three Directors selected as nearly as may be one from each general division of the Board. The names of the special manuscript committee shall be stated to each Director when the summary and report described in paragraph (4) are sent to him. It shall be the duty of each member of the committee to read the manuscript. If each member of the special committee signifies his approval within thirty days, the manuscript may be published. If each member of the special committee has not signified his approval within thirty days of the transmittal of the report and manuscript, the Director of Research shall then notify each member of the Board, requesting approval or disapproval of publication, and thirty additional days shall be granted for this purpose. The manuscript shall then not be published unless at least a majority of the entire Board and a two-thirds majority of those members of the Board who shall have voted on the proposal within the time fixed for the receipt of votes on the publication proposed shall have approved.
- 5. No manuscript may be published, though approved by each member of the special committee, until forty-five days have elapsed from the transmittal of the summary and report. The interval is allowed for the receipt of any memorandum of dissent or reservation, together with a brief statement of his reasons, that any member may wish to express; and such memorandum of dissent or reservation shall be published with the manuscript if he so desires. Publication does not, however, imply that each member of the Board has read the manuscript, or that either members of the Board in general, or of the special committee, have passed upon its validity in every detail.
- 7. A copy of this resolution shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board, be printed in each copy of every National Bureau book.

(Resolution adopted October 25, 1926, as revised February 6, 1933, and February 24, 1941)

This report is one of a series emerging from an investigation of postwar capital market developments in the United States. The costs of the study were financed in large part by a grant to the National Bureau from the Life Insurance Association of America supplemented by funds from the Research and Educational Trust Fund of the Mortgage Bankers Association of America. Neither of these organizations, however, is responsible for any of the statements made or views expressed in the report.



CONTENTS

Introduction, by Robert E. Lipsey	1
Assets and Liabilities	2
Currency and Demand Deposits	3
Other Bank Deposits and Shares	4
Private Life Insurance Reserves	5
Private Pension and Retirement Funds	6
Government Pension and Insurance Funds	7
Consumer Credit	7
Trade Credit	8
Loans on Securities	9
Bank Loans, n.e.c.	9
Other Loans	10
Mortgages	11
U.S. Government Securities	12
State and Local Government Securities	13
Other Bonds and Notes	14
Preferred Stock	14
Common Stock	14
Equity in Mutual Financial Organizations	16
Equity in Other Business	16
Other Intangible Assets and Liabilities	16
Equities or Net Worth	16
Classification of Sectors	17
Nonfarm Households	17
Nonfarm Unincorporated Business	22
Agriculture	23
Nonfinancial Corporations	24
Finance	27
Federal Reserve Banks and Treasury Monetary Funds	27
Government Pension and Insurance Funds	28
Commercial Banks	29
Mutual Savings Banks	31
Savings and Loan Associations	31
Investment Companies	32
Credit Unions	32
Life Insurance Companies	33
Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies	33
Noninsured Pension Plans	33
Other Private Insurance	33
Finance Companies	33
Other Finance	21

CONTENTS

State and Local Government	37
Federal Government	36
BASIC TABLES	
I. National Balance Sheets, 1945-58	41
Ia. National Balance Sheets, 1900-45, Selected Years	71
II. Finance Sector Balance Sheets, 1945-58.	87
III. Sector Balance Sheets, 1945-58 and Selected Earlier	
Years	117
IV. Asset and Liability Tables, 1945-58 and Selected	
Earlier Years	239
V. Flow of Funds Through Sectors, 1946-58	345
VI. Flow of Funds Through Finance Subsectors, 1946-58	373
VII. Sector Flow of Funds, 1946-58	401
VIII. Transaction Flow of Funds, 1946-58	449

Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

1.	Currency and Demand Deposits	3
	Gold and Treasury Currency	4
3.	Other Bank Deposits and Shares	5
	Private Life Insurance Reserves	5
5.	Private Pension and Retirement Funds	6
6.	Government Pension and Insurance Funds	7
7.	Consumer Credit	7
8.	Trade Credit	8
9.	Loans on Securities	9
10.	Bank Loans, N.E.C.	10
11.	Other Loans	11
12.	U.S. Government Securities	12
13.	State and Local Government Securities	13
14.	Other Bonds and Notes	14
15.	Corporate Stock	15
16.	Nonfarm Household Assets	18
17.	Nonfarm Household Liabilities	21
18.	Nonfarm Unincorporated Business	22
19.	Agriculture	23
20.	Nonfinancial Corporations	25
21.	Federal Reserve Banks and Treasury Monetary Funds	27
22.	Commercial Banks	29
23.	Mutual Savings Banks	31
24.	Savings and Loan Associations	32
25.	Finance Companies	34
26.	Brokers and Dealers	35
27.	State and Local Governments, Including State and Local	
	Pension and Retirement Funds	36
28.	Federal Government, Including Federal Pension and	
	Insurance Funds	38

I.	National Balance Sheets, 1945-58	42
Ia.	National Balance Sheets, 1900-45, Selected Years	72
II.	Finance Sector Balance Sheets, 1945-58	88
III-1.	Nonform Households	118
III-la.	Personal Trust Funds, Including Common Trust	
	Funds	120
III-lb.	Personal Trust Funds Other Than Common Trust	
	Funds	120
III-lc.	Common Trust Funds	122
III-ld.	Nonfarm Households, 1900-45, Selected Years	124
	Nonfarm Unincorporated Business	126
	Nonfarm Unincorporated Business, 1900-45,	
	Selected Years	128
III-3.	Agriculture	130
	Agricultural Cooperatives	132
	Cooperatives for Purchase, Supply, and Related	
	Services	134
III-3a-2.	Rural Electric Cooperatives and Farmers' Mutual	
	Telephone Companies	136
III-3a-3.	Farmers' Mutual Irrigation Companies	136
III-3b.	Agriculture, 1900-45, Selected Years	138
	Nonfinancial Corporations	140
III-4a.	Real Estate Corporations	142
III-4b.	Nonfinancial Corporations, 1900-45, Selected	
	Years	146
III-4b-1.	Investment Holding Companies, 1929-45, Selected	
	Years	148
	Total Finance	150
III-5a.	Federal Reserve Banks and Treasury Monetary	
	Funds	152
	Federal Reserve Banks	152
	Treasury Monetary Funds	154
	Government Pension and Insurance Funds	154
	Federal Government Pension and Insurance Funds	156
III-5b-1a.	Special Issues of Federal Securities Held by Fed-	
	eral Government Pension and Insurance Funds	158
III-5b-1b.	Public Issues of Federal Securities Held by Federal	
TTT - 1 . 0	Government Pension and Insurance Funds	159
111-5b-2.	State and Local Government Pension and Insur-	1.00
TFT 2	ance Funds	160
	Commercial Banks	162
111-5d.	Mutual Savings Banks	164

111-50	Savings and Loan Associations	166
	-	168
	Investment Companies Open-End Investment Companies	168
	•	170
	Closed-End Investment Companies	170
	Face-Amount Investment Companies	
_	Credit Unions	172
	Life Insurance Companies	174
	Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies	176
	Noninsured Pension Plans	178
	Noninsured Pension Plans, Corporate	180
111-5 _J -2.	Noninsured Pension Plans, Union-Administered	100
0	and Multiemployer	182
111-5j-3.	Noninsured Pension Plans, Nonprofit Organiza-	
	tions	184
	Other Private Insurance	186
	Fraternal Orders	188
	Group Health Insurance	190
	Savings Bank Life Insurance	192
	Finance Companies	194
	Commercial Paper	196
	Other Finance	198
	Brokers and Dealers	200
	Assets of Brokers and Dealers	202
	Banks in Possessions	204
	Agencies of Foreign Banks	206
	Agricultural Credit Organizations	208
	Tangible Assets of Financial Organizations	210
	Total Finance, 1900-45, Selected Years	212
	State and Local Governments	216
	State and Local Governments, 1900-45, Selected	
	Years	218
	Federal Government (Civil Only)	220
	Total Federal Government, Including Military	224
	Postal Savings System	226
III-7c.	Government Lending and Credit Agencies, Except	
	Federal Land Banks	228
	Estimate of Federal Government Loans	230
	Federal Land Banks	232
III-7f.	Federal Government (Civil Only), 1900-45, Se-	
	lected Years	234
III-8.	Rest of the World	238
	Residential Structures, Assets	240
IV-a-2.	Nonresidential Structures, Assets	240

IV-a-3.	Land, Assets	242
	Residential Land, Assets	242
IV-a-3b.	Nonresidential Land, Assets	244
IV-a-4.	Producer Durables, Assets	244
IV-a-5.	Consumer Durables, Assets	246
IV-a-6.	Inventories, Assets	246
IV-a-7.	Total Tangible Assets	248
IV-a-8.	Tangible Assets of Financial Intermediaries	250
IV-a-9.	Tangible Assets of Other Financial Corpora-	
	tions (Excluding Real Estate Corporations)	251
IV-b-1.	Currency and Demand Deposits, Assets	252
IV-b-la.	Monetary Metals, Assets	254
IV-b-1b.	Currency and Demand Deposits, Other Than	
	Monetary Metals, Assets	254
IV-b-1c.	Calculation of Currency and Demand Deposit	
	Holdings of Commercial Banks	256
IV-b-1d.	Rest-of-the-World Demand Deposit and Currency	
	Assets	257
IV-b-le.	Estimate of Commercial Bank Demand Deposit	
	Liabilities, Other Than Interbank	258
IV-b-1f.	Estimate of Total Currency and Demand Deposit	
	Liabilities	259
IV-b-1g.	Estimation of Currency and Demand Deposit Assets	
	(Holder Record)	260
IV-b-1h.	Commercial Banks: Estimate of Cash Items in	
	Process of Collection	261
	Other Bank Deposits and Shares, Assets	262
	Private Life Insurance Reserves, Assets	262
	Private Pension and Retirement Funds, Assets	264
	Government Pension and Insurance Funds, Assets	264
	Consumer Credit, Assets	266
	Consumer Credit, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	266
	Trade Credit, Assets	268
	Trade Credit, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	268
	Loans on Securities, Assets	270
	Bank Loans, N.E.C., Assets	270
	Other Loans, Assets	272
	Nonfarm Mortgages, Assets	274
	Nonfarm Residential Mortgages, Assets	276
TA-D-119-1.	Multifamily Nonfarm Residential Mortgages, As-	970
TV b 110 0	Sets One to Four Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	278
1 V *U-11a-4.	One- to Four-Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	280

IV-b-lla-3.	Multifamily Nonfarm Residential Mortgages,	
	Conventional, Assets	282
IV-b-lla-4.	Multifamily Nonfarm Residential Mortgages,	
	FHA-Insured, Assets	282
IV-b-11a-5.	One- to Four-Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	
	gages, FHA- and VA-Insured, Assets	284
IV-b-11a-6.	One- to Four-Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	
	gages, FHA- and VA-Insured, Assets	284
	Nonfarm Nonresidential Mortgages, Assets	286
IV-b-11c.	Nonfarm Mortgages, Assets, 1900-45, Selected	
	Years	286
IV-b-llc-l.	Nonfarm Residential Mortgages, Assets, 1900-45,	
	Selected Years	288
IV-b-11c-2.	One- to Four-Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	
	gages, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	289
IV-b-11c-3.	Multifamily Nonfarm Residential Mortgages, As-	
	sets, 1900-45, Selected Years	290
IV-b-11c-4.	Nonfarm Nonresidential Mortgages, Assets, 1900-	
	45, Selected Years	291
IV-b-11c-5.	Nonfarm Mortgages (Excluding Real Estate	
	Bonds), Assets, 1890 and 1896-1929	292
IV-b-11c-6.	Nonfarm Mortgages (Excluding Real Estate	200
****	Bonds), Assets, 1929-45	293
	Farm Mortgages, Assets	294
	Farm Mortgages, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	294
	U.S. Government Securities, Assets	296
	Short-Term U.S. Government Securities, Assets	298
	U.S. Government Savings Bonds, Assets	300
IV-D-13C.	Long-Term U.S. Government Securities Other	900
TX7 L 10 J	Than Savings Bonds, Assets	300
1V-D-13a.	U.S. Government Securities, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	909
TV b 14	State and Local Government Securities, Assets	303
	State and Local Government Securities, Assets	304
1 V-D-14a.	1900-45, Selected Years	306
TV 5 15	Other Bonds and Notes, Assets	308
	Corporate Bonds, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	310
	Preferred Stock, Assets	312
	Common Stock, Assets	314
	Estimate of New Issues of Common Stock and	917
i v N-11a.	Total Stock Outstanding, Assets	316
IV-h-17h	Corporate Stock, Assets, 1900-45, Selected Years	318
	Equity in Mutual Financial Organizations. Assets	318

IV-b-19.	Equity in Other Business, Assets	320
	Other Intangible Assets	320
IV-c-1.	Currency and Demand Deposits, Liabilities	322
	Other Bank Deposits and Shares, Liabilities	322
	Private Life Insurance Reserves, Liabilities	324
IV-c-4.	Private Pension and Retirement Funds, Liabilities	324
IV-c-5.	Government Pension and Insurance Funds, Lia-	
	bilities	326
IV-c-6.	Consumer Debt, Liabilities	326
IV-c-7.	Trade Debt, Liabilities	328
IV-c-8.	Loans on Securities, Liabilities	328
IV-c-9.	Bank Loans, N.E.C., Liabilities	330
IV-c-9a.	Short-Term Bank Loans, N.E.C., Liabilities	330
IV-c-9b.	Long-Term Bank Loans, N.E.C., Liabilities	332
IV-c-10.	Other Loans, Liabilities	332
	Mortgages, Liabilities	334
IV-c-lla.	One- to Four-Family Nonfarm Residential Mort-	
	gages, Liabilities	334
IV-c-11b.	Multifamily Nonfarm Residential Mortgages,	
	Liabilities	336
	Nonfarm Nonresidential Mortgages, Liabilities	336
	Farm Mortgages, Liabilities	338
	Mortgages, Liabilities, 1900-45, Selected Years	338
IV-c-lle-l.	Allocation of Mortgage Liabilities by Sector, 1900-	
	45, Selected Years	340
	Bonds and Notes, Liabilities	342
IV-c-13.	Other Liabilities	342
V.	Annual Flow of Funds Through Sectors, 1946-58	346
VI	Annual Flow of Funds Through Finance Sub-	
V 1.	sectors, 1946-58	374
		• • •
VII-1.	Flow of Funds Through Nonfarm Households	402
	Flow of Funds Through Unincorporated Nonfarm	
	Business	404
VII-3.	Flow of Funds Through Agriculture	406
	Flow of Funds Through Nonfinancial Corpora-	
	tions	408
VII-5.	Flow of Funds Through Total Finance	410
VII-5a.	Flow of Funds Through Federal Reserve Banks	
	and Treasury Monetary Funds	412
VII-5b.	Flow of Funds Through Government Pension and	
	Insurance Funds	414

VII-5c.	Flow of Funds Through Commercial Banks	416
	Flow of Funds Through Mutual Savings Banks	418
	Flow of Funds Through Savings and Loan Associa-	
	tions	420
VII-5f.	Flow of Funds Through Investment Companies	422
	Flow of Funds Through Credit Unions	424
	Flow of Funds Through Life Insurance Com-	
	panies	426
VII-5i.	Flow of Funds Through Fire and Casualty Insur-	
	ance Companies	428
VII-5i.	Flow of Funds Through Noninsured Pension	
J	Plans	430
VII-5k.	Flow of Funds Through Other Private Insurance	432
	Flow of Funds Through Fraternal Orders	434
	Flow of Funds Through Finance Companies	436
	Flow of Funds Through Other Finance	438
	Flow of Funds Through Brokers and Dealers	440
	Flow of Funds Through State and Local Govern-	
	ments	442
VII-7.	Flow of Funds Through Federal Government	
	(Civil Only)	444
VII-7-1.	Flow of Funds Through the Government Sector	
	(Civil and Military)	446
	`	
VIII-a-1.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Residential	
	Structures, Original Cost	450
VIII-a-la.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Residential	
	Structures, Constant 1947-49 Prices	450
VIII-a-1b.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Residential	
	Structures, Depreciation at Replacement Cost	452
VIII-a-1c.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Residential	
	Structures, Constant 1947-49 Prices	452
VIII-a-2.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Nonresiden-	
	tial Structures, Original Cost	454
VIII-a-2a.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Nonresiden-	
	tial Structures, Constant 1947-49 Prices	454
VIII-a-2b.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Nonresidential	
	Structures, Depreciation at Replacement Cost	456
VIII-a-2c.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Nonresidential	
	Structures, Constant 1947-49 Prices	456
VIII-a-4.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Producer	
	Durables, Original Cost	458
VIII-a-4a.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Producer	
	Durables, Constant 1947-49 Prices	458

VIII-a-4b.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Producer Dur-	
	ables, Depreciation at Replacement Cost	460
VIII-a-4c.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Producer Dur-	
	ables, Constant 1947-49 Prices	460
VIII-a-5.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Consumer	
	Durables, Original Cost	462
VIII-a-5a.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment in Consumer	
	Durables, Constant 1947-49 Prices	462
VIII.a.5h	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Consumer Dur-	
VIII a 35.	ables, Depreciation at Replacement Cost	462
VIII a Ka	Uses of Funds: Net Investment in Consumer Dur-	104
v 111-a-5C.		161
	ables, Constant 1947-49 Prices	464
VIII-a-6b.	Uses of Funds: Inventories at Book Value, Orig-	
	inal Cost	464
VIII-a-6c.	Uses of Funds: Inventories, Constant 1947-49	
	Prices	466
	Uses of Funds: Inventories at Adjusted Values	466
VIII-a-7.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment, Inventories at	
	Book Value, Original Cost	468
VIII-a-7a.	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment, Constant 1947-	
	1949 Prices	470
VIII-a-7b.	Uses of Funds: Net Investment, Depreciation at	
	Replacement Cost, Inventories at Book Value	470
VIII-a-7c	Uses of Funds: Net Investment, Constant 1947-49	
V111-4 7C.	Prices	472
VIII o 7d	Uses of Funds: Gross Investment, Inventories at	114
V111-a-7u.	Adjusted Value	472
VIII - 70	Uses of Funds: Net Investment, Depreciation at	1/4
V 111-a-76.		474
37TYT 1. 1	Replacement Cost, Inventories at Adjusted Value	4/4
A111-D-1	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Currency and De-	45.4
***** 1 0	mand Deposits	474
VIII-D-2.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Other Bank De-	450
***** 1 A	posits and Shares	476
VIII-b-3.	Uses of Funds: Net Changes in Life Insurance	
	Policy Reserves	476
VIII-b-4.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Private Pension and	
	Retirement Funds	478
VIII-b-5.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Government Pen-	
	sion and Insurance Funds	478
	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Consumer Credit	478
VIII-b-7.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Trade Credit	480
VIII-b-8.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Loans on Securities	480
VIII-b-9.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Bank Loans	482

VIII-b-10.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Other Loans	482
VIII-b-11.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Mort-	
	gages	484
VIII-b-11a.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages	484
VIII-b-11a-1.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, Multifamily	486
VIII-b-11a-2.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, One- to Four-Family	486
VIII-b-11a-3.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, Multifamily, Conventional	488
VIII-b-11a-4.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, Multifamily, FHA-Insured	488
VIII-b-lla-5.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, One- to Four-Family, Conventional	490
VIII-b-lla-6.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Residen-	
	tial Mortgages, One- to Four-Family, FHA- and	
	VA-Insured	490
VIII-b-11b.	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Nonresi-	
	dential Mortgages	492
	Uses of Funds: Net Change in Farm Mortgages	492
VIII-b-13.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of U.S. Govern-	
	ment Securities	494
VIII-b-13a.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Short-Term U.S.	
	Government Securities	494
VIII-b-13b.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of U.S. Savings	
	Bonds	496
VIII-b-13c.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Long-Term U.S.	
	Government Securities Other Than Savings Bonds	496
VIII-b-14.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of State and Local	
	Government Securities	498
VIII-b-15.	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Other Bonds	
	and Notes	498
	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Preferred Stock	500
	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Common Stock	502
	Uses of Funds: Net Acquisition of Corporate Stock	504
VIII-b-20.	Uses of Funds: Net Changes in Other Intangible	
	Assets	506
VIII-c-1.	Sources of Funds: Net Changes in Currency and	
	Demand Deposits	508
VIII-c-2.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Other Bank De-	
*****	posits and Shares	508
VIII-c-3.	Sources of Funds: Life Insurance Policy Reserves	510

VIII-c-3a.	Sources of Funds: Adjustment for Capital Gain or	
	Loss, Life Insurance Companies	510
VIII-c-4.	Sources of Funds: Private Pension and Retirement	
	Funds	512
VIII-c-4a	Sources of Funds: Adjustment for Capital Gain or	
V 111 C 141	Loss, Noninsured Pension Funds	512
VIII.c.5	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Government	0.4
V 111-C-5.	Pension and Insurance Funds	514
VIII.c.6	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Consumer Debt	514
	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Trade Debt	514
	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Loans on Securi-	311
V 111-C-0.	ties	516
3/111 - O	9.20	310
V 111-C-9.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Bank Loans,	E10
***** O	N.E.C.	516
VIII-c-9a.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Short-Term	F 10
	Bank Loans	518
VIII-c-9b.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Long-Term	- 10
	Bank Loans	518
	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Other Loans	518
VIII-c-II.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Mortgage Li-	۲00
	abilities	520
VIII-c-11a.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Resi-	
	dential Mortgages, One- to Four-Family	520
VIII-c-11b.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Resi-	
	dential Mortgages, Multifamily	520
VIII-c-11c.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Nonfarm Non-	
	residential Mortgages	522
	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Farm Mortgages	522
VIII-c-12.	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Other Bonds and	
	Notes	524
	Sources of Funds: Net Change in Other Liabilities	524
	Sources of Funds: Net Issue of Common Stock	526
	Sources of Funds: Net Issue of Preferred Stock	526
VIII-d-3.	Sources of Funds: Gross Saving, Inventories at	
	Book Value	528
VIII-d-3b.	Sources of Funds: Net Saving, Inventories at	
	Book Value	528
VIII-d-3d.	Sources of Funds: Gross Saving, Inventories at	
	Adjusted Value	530
VIII-d-3e.	Sources of Funds: Net Saving, Inventories at	
	Adjusted Value	530

STUDIES IN THE NATIONAL BALANCE SHEET OF THE UNITED STATES

Volume II

Basic Data on Balance Sheets and Fund Flows

This PDF is a selection from an out-of-print volume from the National Bureau of Economic Research

Volume Title: Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States, Vol. 2

Volume Author/Editor: Raymond W. Goldsmith, Robert E. Lipsey, and Morris Mendelson

Volume Publisher: Princeton University Press

Volume ISBN: 0-691-04180-6

Volume URL: http://www.nber.org/books/gold63-2

Publication Date: 1963

Chapter Title: Introduction to "Studies in the National Balance Sheet of the United States, Vol. 2"

Chapter Author: Robert E. Lipsey

Chapter URL: http://www.nber.org/chapters/c5734

Chapter pages in book: (p. 1 - 40)

INTRODUCTION

This volume contains the basic data underlying the three parts of Volume I as well as the forthcoming book by Raymond W. Goldsmith, The Flow of Capital Funds in the Postwar Economy. Also included are national and sectoral balance sheets for prewar years from Volume III of Goldsmith's A Study of Saving in the United States (1956), rearranged with some corrections and revisions to make them more comparable with the postwar data. The tables and notes presented here, together with Appendixes A and B of Goldsmith's The National Wealth of the United States in the Postwar Period (1962), will enable a reader to reproduce or extend the balance sheets, asset and liability tables, and fund flow data.

This introduction describes the main features of the National Bureau accounts, some of which were outlined in Volume I, Part One, Chapter 2. It includes the definitions of types of assets and liabilities and of sectors, and identifies the main differences between these accounts and those published by the Federal Reserve Board. The FRB accounts appear in Flow of Funds/Saving Accounts, 1946-1960, Supplement 5 (1961), and the most recent explanation can be found in "A Quarterly Presentation of Flow of Funds, Saving, and Investment" (Federal Reserve Bulletin, August 1959). Where possible, reconciliations between the NBER and FRB accounts were prepared. These are shown below for 1954-58, which appeared to be long enough to include almost all the main differences between the two sets of accounts. Some of these reconciliations are incomplete, particularly where completeness would have required an examination of the unpublished worksheets underlying the FRB data. However, where the sources of discrepancy could be identified from published information or inferred from the general principles followed by the Federal Reserve Board and the NBER, a reconciliation was made, and these accounted for most of the major discrepancies.

The basic tables are divided into eight sections, as follows:

Assets and Liabilities

- I. National Balance Sheets, 1945-58
- Ia. National Balance Sheets, 1900-45, Selected Years
- II. Finance Sector Balance Sheets, 1945-58
- III. Sector Balance Sheets, 1945-58 and Selected Earlier Years
- IV. Asset and Liability Tables, 1945-58 and Selected Earlier Years

Flow of Funds

- V. Flow of Funds Through Sectors, 1946-58
- VI. Flow of Funds Through Finance Subsectors, 1946-58
- VII. Sector Flow of Funds, 1946-58
- VIII. Transaction Flow of Funds, 1946-58

Section I consists of fourteen balance sheets, one for each year 1945 through 1958, showing, for each major asset and liability, the amount held by each of seven major sectors and by the nation as a whole. These are patterned after the national balance sheets for eight benchmark years between 1900 and 1949 presented in Volume III of A Study of Saving (Tables W-9 to W-16). These balance sheets for earlier years, revised to include new data and to improve comparability with later years, are presented in Section Ia. The revision is not complete, however, as can be seen from a comparison of the 1945 balance sheets in Sections I and Ia.

The Section II balance sheets are an expansion of the finance columns in Section I, giving the same information (except on tangible assets) for thirteen subsectors of finance.

¹Hereinafter referred to as Supplement 5.

Sections I and II are both derived from the data for individual sectors and items in Sections III and IV. For each major sector in Section I, for each finance sector in Section II, and for many subdivisions of these, Section III contains a table showing assets, liabilities, and equity for every year from 1945 through 1958. These are similar to the sector balance sheets in A Study of Saving (Tables W-22 to W-43 of Volume III for major sectors and various tables in Volume I for subsectors). However, the definitions of some major sectors in the postwar tables are different from those in A Study of Saving and there have been some changes in the treatment or estimation of several asset and liability items. We have therefore included, as supplementary tables, revised balance sheets for the major sectors for 1900-45.

The Federal Reserve Board has published partial sector balance sheets for 1945-60, excluding tangible assets and many miscellaneous assets and liabilities, in *Supplement 5* (pp. 34-71, particularly Table 8).

Section IV gives, for each asset and liability listed in Sections I, II, and III, the amount held or owed by each of the major sectors and thirteen finance subsectors. These tables correspond to the FRB tables on "amounts outstanding, year-end" in Supplement 5 (pp. 74-119).

Tables numbered IV-a (for tangible assets) or IV-b (for intangible assets) show the amount of the asset held by each of the main sectors of the economy and the total held by all domestic sectors combined. For those categories which are liabilities as well (all except tangibles and equities), tables numbered IV-c show the amount outstanding against each sector and the total outstanding against all domestic sectors. An attempt is made in each table numbered IV-b to reconcile the total outstanding with the total held, in terms of foreign (rest-of-world) holdings and outstandings, various types of float, valuation differences between holders' and obligors' records, and other sources of discrepancy.

Sections V through VIII are flow tables corresponding to the four sets of stock tables in Sections I through IV. Sections V and VI are annual flow-of-funds tables for the nation, major sectors, and thirteen finance subsectors. The tables in Section V show inventory change in two versions: one at book value, and one (in the notes to the tables) in which only changes in inventories that reflect quantity changes are entered. These real inventory changes are estimated by subtracting the inventory valuation adjustment (IVA) of the Department of Commerce National Income Division.

Data on flows (sources and uses of funds) for the sectors and many of the subsectors listed in Section III are shown in Section VII. Here again, for several of the major sectors, data on inventories are shown both at book value and with IVA.

The Federal Reserve Board's analogous set of tables are the "sector statements of sources and uses of funds," which include estimates of saving from the income account as well as from the balance sheet. These appear in *Supplement 5*, Table 4, pages 11-31, and for subsectors on pages 41-73. They cover 1946-60 in annual data and 1952-60 in quarterly data.

Section VIII provides data on sources and uses of funds, showing, for each type, the sectoral distribution in every year. For structures and durable goods, the flow tables (VIII-a) show expenditures at original and constant cost and net investment at current replacement and constant cost. Inventory flows are shown in constant and in current dollars, and the latter both at book value and with inventory valuation adjustment. No flow of funds into land is estimated; all changes in land value are treated as capital gains, ignoring intersectoral land sales. Financial flows (Tables VIII-b, VIII-c, and VIII-d) are mostly estimated by taking the net change in assets and liabilities between the beginning and end of the year, assuming that valuation changes are small enough to be ignored. However, the flow of funds into equity securities and net worth must be estimated directly because this assumption cannot be made. Net purchases are therefore used as the flow of funds into common stock, and net issues of stock and saving as the net worth flow.

Part b of Section VIII shows uses of funds while parts c and d deal with sources. Part c gives data on the issuance of financial liabilities and part d presents estimates of the flow of funds through common and preferred stock and of gross and net saving, by sector. The analogous FRB tables are shown on pages 74-119 of *Supplement 5* as "annual flows, 1946-1960" and "quarterly flows, 1952-1960."

Assets and Liabilities

Some of the asset and liability tables have self-explanatory titles, but others are somewhat ambiguous or have a different coverage from that of the closest corresponding groups in the

FRB accounts. In this section the NBER categories are defined and reconciled with the corresponding FRB transactions categories.²

Most of the large differences between the asset and liability totals listed here and those shown by the Federal Reserve Board arise from the fact that the FRB consolidates its sectors, netting out intrasector holdings, while the NBER does not. By this process the FRB eliminates, for example, interbank deposits, corporate stocks and bonds owned by other corporations, and holdings of federal government debt by federal agencies and trust funds.

Holdings of tangible assets are not included in the FRB accounts. Data given here on the market or current value of tangible assets, mainly derived by the perpetual inventory method, are from *The National Wealth of the United States*, and definitions of the asset categories can be found there. The only substantial change from that source is that monetary metals, included there under tangible assets, have been shifted to intangible or financial assets, under currency and demand deposits.

Currency and Demand Deposits (Tables IV-b-1 and IV-c-1) encompass two FRB classifications: gold and Treasury currency, and demand deposits and currency. The former category is made up mainly of monetary gold and silver held by the Treasury monetary funds plus official gold holdings of the rest of the world, which were omitted in the NBER accounts. The only liability item under this heading is Treasury currency liability, consisting of seigniorage on coins and revalued silver plus minor coin outstanding and the sum of Federal Reserve bank notes, national bank notes, and U.S. notes outstanding, minus gold reserves against U.S. notes. All the rest of the difference between assets and liabilities appears as discrepancy, since monetary metals are not considered to be a liability of any sector.

TABLE 1

Currency and Demand Deposits: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB currency and demand deposits. assets	134.7	135.5	137.2	137.9	144.8
2.	Less NBER rest-of-world assets	4.3	4.3	4.5	4.7	4.8
3.	Plus NBER Federal Reserve banks and					
	Treasury monetary funds, assets	48.6	48.7	49.2	50.9	46.8
4.	Plus NBER commercial banks, assets	34.0	34.3	35.6	35.5	35.1
5.		213.0	214.2	217.5	219.6	221.9
6.	NBER currency and demand deposits, assets	213.1	214.2	217.5	219.5	221.9
7.	FRB currency and demand deposits, liabilities	141.9	144.2	145.9	145.2	151.0
8.	Plus NBER gold certificates	21.0	21.0	21.3	22.1	20.0
9.	Plus NBER FR bank holdings of FR notes	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5
10.	Plus NBER Exch. Stab. Fund deposits with FR					
	banks	0.2	0.2	0.1		0.2
11.	Plus NBER FR bank holdings of Treasury					
	currency	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
12.	Plus NBER commercial bank demand deposits	12.8	12.9	13.7	13.2	13.5
13.	Plus NBER cash items in process of collection	10.0	13.3	13.9	13.7	14.6
14.	Plus FRB Federal Reserve float	8.0	1.6	1.7	1.4	1.3
15.	Plus FRB member-bank reserves	18.9	19.0	19.1	19.0	18.5
16.	Plus FRB other domestic bank deposits	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
17.	Plus FRB other vault cash	2.5	2.7	3.3	3.3	3.2
18.	Plus FRB federal currency liabilities	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.6	2.6
19.	Total of lines 7-18	211.3	218.1	222.3	221.3	225.8
20.	NBER currency and demand deposits, liabilities	211.5	218.2	222.2	221.5	225.8

²For an earlier discussion of the differences between NBER and FRB accounts, see Morris Mendelson, *The Flow-of-Funds Through the Financial Markets*, 1953-1955, New York, NBER, 1959, pp. 3-20.

Source to Table 1

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 19L, line K.
- 2: Table IV-b-1, line 9.
- 3-4: Table IV-b-1, lines 5a and 5b.
 - 5: Sum of lines 1, 3, and 4, minus line 2.
 - 6: Table IV-b-1, line 8.
 - 7: Supplement 5, Table 19L, line A.
 - 8: See notes to Table III-5a-2, line III-1.
 - 9: From various issues of Annual Report of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, table on condition of Federal Reserve Banks.

Line

- 10: See notes to Table III-5a-2, line II-1.
- 11: Same source as line 9.
- 12: Table IV-b-1c, column 5.

- 13: Table IV-b-1, line 12.
 14: Supplement 5, Table 16L, line i.
 15-17: Supplement 5, Table 17L, lines W, Z, and a.
 - 18: Supplement 5, Table 8, federal government sector, "Treasury currency liability."
 - 19: Sum of lines 7-18.
 - 20: Table IV-b-1, line 15.

TABLE 2 Gold and Treasury Currency: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1. FRB gold and Treasury currency	41.7	42.5	43.1	43.9	44.7
2. Plus NBER cash assets of Exch. Stab. Fund	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
3. Less FRB rest-of-world gold	15.1	15.9	16.1	16.0	19.3
4. Less FRB nonmonetary silver bullion held at					
cost in acct. of U.S. Treasury			0.1	0.1	0.1
5. Total of lines 1-4	26.9	26.9	27.1	27.9	25.5
6. NBER Treasury monetary funds, currency and					
demand deposits	27.0	27.0	27.2	28.0	26.0

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 18L, sum of lines A and G.
- 2: See notes to Table III-5a-2, line II-1.

- 3-4: Supplement 5, Table 18L, lines E and K.
 - 5: Sum of lines 1-4.
 - 6: Table III-5a-2, line II-1.

The NBER total for other currency and demand deposits is much larger than that of the FRB because the FRB nets out all the currency and demand deposits held by commercial banks and the Treasury monetary funds, although it does take in foreign currency and deposit holdings. The main items disappearing in the FRB consolidation are bank reserves with the Federal Reserve Banks, gold certificates, interbank deposits, cash items in process of collection, Federal Reserve float, and vault cash.

There is a very large discrepancy between assets and liabilities in this item of the NBER accounts because monetary metals appear in assets but not in liabilities. Furthermore, several large items of float also enter into the discrepancy. Nonfarm households' assets are estimated as a residual by subtracting known holdings by other groups from total currency and demand deposits of individuals, partnerships, and corporations, after adjusting that total to a holder record basis.

Other Bank Deposits and Shares (Tables IV-b-2 and IV-c-2) consist of time deposits at commercial and mutual savings banks and postal savings deposits plus shares in savings and loan associations and credit unions. The Federal Reserve Board includes these items, along with consumer-held U.S. government savings bonds, in a category called "fixed-value redeemable claims" (Supplement 5, Table 20L, p. 78), which differs from the NBER asset totals by including rest-of-world time deposits as well as savings bonds.

It is assumed, for this category, that there is no discrepancy between total assets and total liabilities (as there is for currency and demand deposits) except for rest-of-world holdings. Total assets are estimated from total liabilities and the household sector is calculated as a residual.

TABLE 3

Other Bank Deposits and Shares: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1. FRB fixed-value rede	emable claims, assets	156.9	165.3	174.3	184.4	200.6
2. Less FRB U.S. say	rings bonds (consumer-held)	50.0	50.2	50.1	48.2	47.7
3. Less NBER rest-of	-world time deposits	1.8	1.7	1.6	1.6	2.6
4. Total of lines 1-3	_	105.1	113.4	122.6	134.6	150.3
5. NBER other bank dep	osits and shares, assets	104.9	113.3	122.5	134.6	150.2
6. FRB fixed-value rede	emable claims, liabilities	156.9	165.3	174.3	184.4	200.6
7. Less FRB U.S. say	rings bonds (consumer-held)	50.0	50.2	50.1	48.2	47.7
8. Total of lines 6-7	-	106.9	115.1	124.2	136.2	152.9
9. NBER other bank dep	osits and shares, liabilities	106.7	114.9	124.1	136.1	152.8

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 20L, line M.
- 2: Ibid., line S.
- 3: Table IV-b-2, line 9.
- 4: Line 1 minus lines 2 and 3.
- 5: Table IV-b-2, line 8.

Line

- 6: Supplement 5, Table 20 L, line A.
- 7: Ibid., line I.
- 8: Line 6 minus line 7.
- 9: Table IV-c-2, line 8.

Private Life Insurance Reserves (Tables IV-b-3 and IV-c-3) include all liabilities of life insurance companies, fraternal orders, savings bank life insurance (SBLI), and group health insurance plans except for small amounts of specifically identified "other liabilities." The method of estimation treats all insurance organizations as if they were organized as mutuals,

TABLE 4

Private Life Insurance Reserves: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB saving through life ins., assets and liab.	70.2	73.4	77.2	80.0	83.4
2.	Plus FRB savings through life ins. co. pension					
	funds	10.0	11.2	12.4	14.0	15.5
3.	Plus FRB assets minus liab., life ins. co.	7.4	8.3	8.6	9.2	10.3
4.	Plus FRB assets minus liab., fraternal orders	8.0	0.9	0.9	8.0	0.8
5.	Plus NBER life ins. co., tangible assets	3.3	3.8	4.1	4.5	4.5
6.	Plus NBER life ins. co., other intang. assets	2.3	2.5	2.8	3.0	3.2
7.	Plus NBER group health and SBLI reserves	.8	.9	1.0	1.0	1.1
8.	Plus NBER fraternal order tangibles and other					
	intangibles	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
9.	Less FRB saving through fed. govt. life ins.	6.0	5.9	6.0	6.2	6.2
10.	Less NBER other liabilities and equities, life					
	ins. cos.	2.8	3.2	3.6	3.7	3.9
11.	Less NBER other liab., fraternal orders	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
12.	Total of lines 1-11	85.9	91.8	97.3	102.6	108.6
13.	NBER private life ins. reserves, liabilities	85.7	91.6	97.1	102.2	108.5
14.	Less NBER rest-of-world holdings of ins.	00.1	01.0	01.1	102.2	100.5
	reserves	1.6	1.8	1.9	2.0	2.1
15.	Total of lines 13-14	84.3	90.0	95.4	100.6	106.5
16.	NBER private life ins. reserves, assets	84.0	89.9	95.2	100.0	106.4

Source to Table 4

Line	Line
1: Supplement 5, Table 21L, line F.	10: Table III-5h, lines III-13 and IV.
2: Ibid., Table 22L, line G.	11: Table III-5k-1, line III-13.
3: Ibid., Table 12L, line C minus line M.	12: Lines 1-8 minus lines 9-11.
4: FRB worksheets.	13: Table IV-c-3, line 8.
5-6: Table III-5h, lines I-7 and II-20.	14: Table IV-b-3, line 9.
7: Tables III-5k-2 and III-5k-3, line III-14.	15: Line 12 minus line 14.
8: Table III-5k-1, lines I-7 and II-20.	16: Table IV-b-3, line 8.
9: Supplement 5, Table 21L, line B.	

with all assets, except those specifically earmarked, belonging to the policyholders. This procedure understates the equity of stockholders in stock life insurance companies. However, it was not possible to subdivide the sector into stock and mutual companies. Fortunately, for this purpose, more than half the outstanding life insurance is with mutual companies. This category is not confined strictly to life insurance reserves, including as it does the reserves of life insurance companies against other types of policies (pensions, annuities, accident and health insurance) and the reserves of nonprofit medical plans.

The closest FRB transactions category is saving through life insurance, which includes government life insurance reserves but excludes pension reserves of life insurance companies. Even when these two adjustments are made, however, the NBER item is much larger, mainly because it includes all liabilities not allocable to categories other than policyholders. This procedure adds to the FRB estimates the difference between financial assets and liabilities, as estimated by the FRB for life insurance companies and fraternal orders, plus total assets (tangible and "other intangible") not included by the FRB, minus "other liabilities" and equities (life insurance company stock outstanding). The NBER data also make a rough adjustment for rest-of-world insurance assets, not calculated by the FRB.

Private Pension and Retirement Funds (Tables IV-b-4 and IV-c-4) consist of the reserves (assumed equal to total assets) of noninsured private pension plans, that is, plans not managed by insurance companies. Corporate pension funds, covered in SEC surveys, own the great bulk of the assets, but union-administered and multiemployer funds and those of non-profit organizations are also included.

This category is approximately equivalent to that part of the FRB transactions item "saving through pension funds" which is the liability of noninsured pension plans. However, the

TABLE 5

Private Pension and Retirement Funds: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

_		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB saving through pension funds, private		_			
	noninsured pension plans	12.6	14.9	17.2	20.0	23.0
2.	Less SEC common stock of corporate pension					
	funds, book value	2.3	3.0	3.8	4.8	6.0
3.	Plus SEC common stock, corporate pension funds,					
	market value	3.2	4.8	5.6	6.0	9.5
4.	Plus NBER misc. assets of noninsured pension					
	plans	0.5	0.6	8.0	0.9	1.0
5.	Total of lines 1-4	14.0	17.3	19.8	22.1	27.5
6.	NBER private pension and retirement funds	14.3	17.4	20.0	22.3	27.8

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 22L, line H.
- 2: SEC, Corporate Pension Funds, 1959 (Statistical Series, Release No. 1680, 1960), Table 1.
- 3: *Ibid.*, Table 3, and Table III-5j-1, line II-17.

Line

- 4: Table III-5j, line II-20.
- 5: Sum of lines 1, 3, and 4, minus line 2.
- 6: Table IV-b-4, line 8.

FRB excludes miscellaneous intangible assets and apparently includes stock at book rather than market value, presumably on the assumption that it is only the book value which enters into the obligation to pension holders. The NBER method, as for life insurance and government pension reserves, treats all assets as belonging to policyholders.

The coverage of the FRB category is slightly narrower in 1945-49. Union-administered, multiemployer, and nonprofit plans are excluded, as are mortgage holdings of corporate

plans.

Government Pension and Insurance Funds (Tables IV-b-5 and IV-c-5) consist of retirement funds for federal, state, and local government employees, the Old Age and Survivors' Insurance and railroad retirement trust funds, federal government life insurance funds, the unemployment insurance trust fund, and state-administered workmen's compensation funds. All the assets of these funds are credited to the policyholders or beneficiaries.

TABLE 6

Government Pension and Insurance Funds: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB saving through pension funds, fed. govt.	9.4	10.0	10.9	11.3	12.3
2.	FRB saving through pension funds, state and					
	local govt.	9.3	10.6	12.1	13.7	15.6
3.	FRB saving through life insur., federal govt.	6.0	5.9	6.0	6.2	6.2
4.	Plus FRB OASI fund assets	20.6	21.7	22.5	22.4	21.9
5.	Plus NBER unemployment trust fund assets	8.7	8.8	9.1	9.1	7.1
6.	Plus NBER state-adm. workmen's compensation					
	fund assets	0.9	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.3
	Total of lines 1-6	54.9	58.0	61.7	63.9	64.4
8.	NBER govt. pension and insurance funds	55.2	58.4	62.0	64.9	66.1

Line

1-2: Supplement 5, Table 22L, lines B and E. 3: Ibid., Table 21L, line B.

4: Ibid., Table 8, p. 36.

4: 10m., Table 8, p. 36.
5: See note to Table III-5b-1, line II-1.

Line 6: 8

6: See note to Table III-5b-2. line II-21.

7: Sum of lines 1-6.

8: Table IV-b-5, line 8.

The corresponding Federal Reserve Board categories are the government parts of saving through life insurance and saving through pension funds, but these exclude the unemployment, workmen's compensation and OASI funds. They also measure the liabilities of the government life insurance funds by policy reserves rather than by total assets as in the NBER estimates.

Consumer Credit (Tables IV-b-6 and IV-c-6) includes short- and intermediate-term credit extended to consumers, but excludes mortgage and security credit. The item has the same

TABLE 7

Consumer Credit: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1. 2.	FRB consumer credit Plus FRB commercial bank loans offset by	32.5	38.9	42.5	45.3	45.5
	hypothecated deposits	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6
3.	Total of lines 1-2	33.0	39.4	43.1	45.9	46.1
4.	NBER consumer credit	32.9	39.4	43.1	45.9	46.1

Line

1: Supplement 5, Table 29L, line F. 2: Ibid., Table 32L, line z.

Line

3: Sum of lines 1 and 2.

4: Table IV-b-6, line 8.

coverage as the FRB series. The only difference is that in the NBER figures hypothecated deposits are not netted out of the data for consumer credit extended by commercial banks and classified under other loans as is done by the FRB. Supplementary Table IV-b-6a consists of a rearrangement of prewar data to fit more closely into the postwar sectoral classification.

Trade Credit (Tables IV-b-7 and IV-c-7) consists in theory of book credit extended by one business to another in connection with the sale of goods and services. It should thus exclude all consumer credit and most debts to financial institutions, as well as all debts represented by financial instruments, such as bonds or commercial paper. In practice, the estimates are made by subtracting identifiable items other than trade credit from business payables and receivables; they are thus residuals which contain other types of debt. The FRB figures are lower than those presented here mainly because financial institutions have been more thoroughly eliminated from the corporate sector in their accounts. The effect of this difference can be seen in the attempt at reconciliation in Table 8. The receivables of "credit agencies other than banks," deducted from corporate receivables by the FRB, are considerably larger than the consumer and trade credit and other loans of finance companies and other finance deducted in arriving at the NBER estimates. The FRB method probably removes more items inappropriate under the definition of trade credit but runs a greater risk of excluding debts from the nonfinancial sector which fail to be picked up in the finance sector. An even lower recent estimate made at the NBER by Martin Seiden ("The Quality of Trade Credit," ms.) eliminates more doubtful items, but it uses a narrower definition of nonfinancial corporations without any necessity of insuring that every item excluded from trade credit was included somewhere else.

TABLE 8

Trade Credit: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB trade credit	57.1	67.2	73.5	75.4	81.4
2.	Plus FRB nonfarm unincorp. bus. trade credit					
	assets	9.1	9.7	10.6	10.9	11.6
3.	Plus NBER finance co. trade credit	0.9	1.1	1.3	1.5	1.7
4.	Plus NBER other finance trade credit	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.4
5.	Plus difference bet. NBER fin. co. rcvbles. and					
	FRB rcvbles. of credit agen. other than banks	1.6	1.9	3.0	3.9	5.1
6.	Total of lines 1-5	68.9	80.1	88.7	92.1	100.2
7.	NBER trade credit	8.88	80.4	88.8	92.1	100.4
8.	FRB trade debt	45.6	54.7	59.7	60.6	63.6
9.	Plus FRB noncorp. nonfinan. bus. trade credit					
	assets	9.1	9.7	10.6	10.9	11.6
10.	Total of lines 8-9	54.7	64.4	70.3	71.5	75.2
11.	NBER trade debt	58.6	69.7	76.9	80.0	87.0

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 33L, line A.
- 2: Ibid., line J.
- 3-4: Tables III-51 and III-5m, line II-7.
 - NBER from Table III-51, lines II-6, II-7, and II-10; FRB from unpublished worksheets on trade credit.

Line

- 6: Sum of lines 1-5.
- 7: Table IV-b-7, line 8.
- 8: Supplement 5, Table 33L, line E.
- 9: Ibid., line J.
- 10: Sum of lines 8-9.
- 11: Table IV-c-7, line 8.

Another contribution to the lower level of the FRB estimates is the fact that they include, for nonfarm unincorporated business, only net trade credit (trade credit minus trade debt), counted as a negative liability. The NBER data show gross trade credit and trade debt.

The trade debt figures from the two sources differ considerably, even though their derivations both start from the same SEC working capital series for corporate payables. It is not possible to find any simple explanation for the discrepancy because of differences in method: the NBER deducts specific types of debt, such as bank loans, while the FRB deducts all payables of certain institutions such as brokers and dealers and credit agencies other than banks and then deducts bank loans for the remaining group. It seems likely that the FRB method eliminates from the total more liabilities that are not strictly trade debt. Supplementary Table IV-b-7a consists of a rearrangement of prewar data to fit more closely into the postwar sectoral classification.

Loans on Securities (Tables IV-b-8 and IV-c-8) consist of loans for purchasing and carrying securities. Mainly these are loans by commercial banks but they also include credit granted by security brokers and dealers (customer debit balances). No estimates are made of security credit extended by others, except for agencies of foreign banks. The NBER estimates differ from those of the FRB mainly by excluding customer credit balances, treated as security credit by the FRB but as other loans (Table IV-b-10) here.

TABLE 9

Loans on Securities: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB security credit, assets	8.6	9.6	9.0	8.7	10.4
2.	Less FRB consumer and nonprofit customers'					
	credit balances with brokers and dealers	1.0	.9	.9	.9	1.2
3.	Less FRB rest-of-world sec. cred. assets	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
4.	Total of lines 1-3	7.5	8.6	8.0	7.7	9.1
5.	NBER loans on securities, assets	7.6	8.7	8.0	7.6	9.2
6.	FRB security credit, liabilities	8.6	9.6	9.0	8.7	10.4
7.	Less FRB consumer and nonprofit customers'					
	cred. balances with brokers and dealers	1.0	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.2
8.	Less FRB rest-of-world sec. cred. liab.	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
9.	Total of lines 6-8	7.5	8.6	8.0	7.7	9.1
10.	NBER loans on securities, liabilities	7.9	9.0	8.3	8.0	9.6
	•					

Line

1-3: Supplement 5, Table 30L, lines J, K, and N.

4: Sum of lines 1-3.

5: Table IV-b-8, line 8.

Line

6-8: Supplement 5, Table 30L, lines A, K, and I.

9: Sum of lines 6-8.

10: Table IV-c-8, line 8.

The NBER liability estimates are higher than the FRB figures because a larger ratio (derived from earlier FRB estimating procedures) was used here to raise customer debit balances at New York Stock Exchange member firms to a level covering all brokers and dealers.

There is no residual line in either Table IV-b-8 or Table IV-c-8. The two total lines have not been forced into agreement and the difference between them (line 10 of IV-b-8) is therefore simply an unexplained discrepancy.

Bank Loans, n.e.c. (Tables IV-b-9 and IV-c-9) are all commercial bank loans (and a small amount by Federal Reserve banks) not included in the other specified loan categories. The specified classes of loans are mainly mortgages, consumer credit, security credit, and bonds and notes.

TABLE 10

Bank Loans, N.E.C.: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB bank loans, n.e.c., assets	34.2	42.1	47.9	50.2	51.5
2.	Plus FRB loans to domestic banks by Federal					
	Reserve banks		0.1			
3.	Plus FRB CCC-guar. loans and certificates of					
	interest	2.3	1.2	0.9	0.5	8.0
4.	Plus FRB open-market paper	1.0	0.8	0.9	1.1	1.2
5.	Total of lines 1-4	37.5	44.2	49.7	51.8	53.5
6.	NBER bank loans, n.e.c., assets	37.6	44.4	50.0	52.1	53.8
7.	FRB bank loans, n.e.c., liabilities	34.2	42.1	47.9	50.2	51.5
8.	Plus lines 3, 4, and 5	3.3	2.1	1.8	1.6	2.0
9.	Less FRB rest-of-world liabilities	1.0	1.4	1.8	2.1	2.6
10.	Total of lines 7-9	36.5	42.8	47.9	49.7	50.9
11.	NBER bank loans, n.e.c., liabilities	36.6	43.0	48.3	50.0	51.2

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 31L, line H. (The published figure for 1958 seems to be an error.)
- 2: Ibid., Table 8 (G.1), line v.
- 3-4: Ibid., Table 8(G), lines X and Y.
 - 5: Sum of lines 1-4.
 - 6: Table IV-b-9, line 8.

Line

- 7: Supplement 5, Table 31L, line I.
- 8: Lines 3, 4, and 5.
- 9: Supplement 5, line R.
- 10: Sum of lines 7-8, minus line 9.
- 11: Table IV-c-9, line 8.

The NBER estimates for this category are generally larger than those in *Supplement 5* (the composition of which is described in *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, August 1959, pp. 855-856), because they include several additional items. The main ones are loans to commercial banks by the Federal Reserve banks, netted out in the FRB accounts, and CCC-guaranteed loans and certificates of interest and open-market paper, both included by the FRB in "other loans."

A rough division of bank loans into short- and long-term is made in Tables IV-c-9a and IV-c-9b, using SEC series on long-term bank debt which are derived from the FRB loan surveys in 1946, 1955, and 1957.

Other Loans (Tables IV-b-10 and IV-c-10) consist essentially of all loans not made by banks and not included in the categories specified separately, namely, consumer credit, trade credit, security credit, mortgages, and bonds and notes. The major components are federal government loans to business and to other countries, insurance policy loans, loans to business by finance companies, and household credit balances with brokers and dealers.

The corresponding FRB category differs considerably from this one. Among the additional assets included by the FRB are open-market paper (mostly placed under bonds and notes, Table IV-b-12 in the NBER accounts), federal government loans to states (under state and local obligations, Table IV-b-14), CCC-guaranteed loans and certificates of interest (under bank loans, n.e.c., Table IV-b-9), consumer loans offset by hypothecated deposits (under consumer credit, Table IV-b-6), and other loans of business finance companies (under trade credit, Table IV-b-7). In addition, loans from the rest of the world are also included by the FRB in total assets, but excluded here. The FRB data appear to exclude loans to farmers by agricultural credit cooperatives (Table III-5m-4) which are included in the NBER totals.

The differences on the liability side are much the same, except that rest-of-world liabilities to the federal government must also be deducted from the FRB figures.

Total liabilities for this item were derived from total assets after adjusting for rest-ofworld liabilities. Other loan liabilities of nonfarm unincorporated business were the residual in this calculation.

TABLE 11
Other Loans: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB other loans, assets	28.7	29.7	30.6	33.3	35.3
2.	Less FRB open-market paper	2.8	2.6	3.1	4.0	4.0
3.	Less FRB fed. govt. loans to states	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.8	1.0
4.	Less FRB CCC-guar. loans and certificates of					
	interest	2.3	1.2	0.9	0.5	0.8
5.	Less FRB consumer bank loans offset by					
	hypothecated deposits	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6
6.	Less NBER finance co. trade credit	0.9	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.7
7.	Plus NBER nonfarm household other loan assets	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.3	3.1
8.	Plus NBER other loans of agric, credit org.	0.7	0.7	0.8	0.9	1.2
9.	Plus NBER fed. loans to farm coops., ex. tobacco	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.1
10.	Total of lines 1-9	24.9	27.1	27.3	29.3	31.6
11.	NBER other loans, assets	25.0	27.2	27.3	29.3	31.6
12.	FRB other loans, liabilities	28.4	29.4	30.3	32.8	34.7
13.	Less lines 2-6	7.0	5.9	6.5	7.3	8.1
14.	Less FRB rest-of-world loans from federal			• • • •		
	government	10.7	10.6	10.7	11.0	11.6
15.	Plus lines 7-9	3.2	3.3	3.2	3.3	4.4
16.	Total of lines 12-15	13.9	16.2	16.3	17.8	19.4
17.	NBER other loans, liabilities	14.0	16.1	16.2	17.8	19.4

_				
r	.i	n	۵	

- 1-5: Supplement 5, Table 32L, lines A, S, n, r, and z.
 - 6: Table III-51, line II-7. 7: Table III-1, line II-10.
 - 8: Table III-5m-4, line II-10.
 - 9: Table III-7d, column 6.
- 10: Sum of lines 1 and 7-9 minus the sum of lines 2-6.
- 11: Table IV-b-10, line 8.

. .

- 12: Supplement 5, Table 32L, line H.
- 13: Sum of lines 2-6.
- 14: Supplement 5, Table 32L, line q.
- 15: Sum of lines 7-9.
- 16: Sum of lines 12 and 15 minus lines
 - 13 and 14.
- 17: Table IV-c-10, line 8.

Mortgages, which are debt secured by real property, are set out in considerable detail, by type, in Tables IV-b-11, IV-c-11, IV-b-12, and subsidiary tables. The coverage of this category is the same as that of the series published regularly by the Federal Reserve Board and of the data in Saul B. Klaman, The Volume of Mortgage Debt in the Postwar Decade (1958). The latter source gives an account of the construction of mortgage estimates and an appraisal of their quality.

The data on mortgage holdings are divided here into nonfarm (Table IV-b-11) and farm mortgages (Table IV-b-12), and the former are further broken down into residential (IV-b-11a) and nonresidential (IV-b-11b). Residential mortgage holdings are then subdivided again by type of property (one- to four-family versus multifamily) and by type of mortgage (FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed, and conventional).

Mortgage assets and liabilities are shown at the same total value, with nonfarm households the residual holders and debtors. No rest-of-world debts or holdings are shown, although it is known (see Table IV-c-11) that U.S. life insurance companies, for example, own over \$700 million of foreign—mainly Canadian—mortgages. The presumption is that the U.S. holdings of foreign mortgages are approximately offset by foreign holdings of U.S. mortgages and that the estimate of household mortgage holdings, which is a residual, is therefore not seriously distorted.

The FRB tabulations in *Supplement 5* distinguish one- to four-family, multifamily, nonfarm nonresidential, and farm mortgages. No reconciliations are shown for any of these categories because the estimates used here, derived mainly from Klaman, *The Volume of Mortgage Debt* and from data of the Federal Reserve Board and the Home Loan Bank Board, are virtually identical with those in *Supplement 5*.

Several supplementary tables (IV-b-11c, IV-b-11c-1 through IV-b-11c-4, and IV-b-12a are included here for benchmark years from 1900 through 1945. These put data from A Study of Saving into a form more comparable with the later information, changing the coverage of sectors and, in some cases, taking advantage of later studies and estimates of mortgage debt particularly by Klaman and the Home Loan Bank Board. The most extensive of these revisions were in the data on multifamily and nonresidential mortgages, where the totals and the amounts held by households were scaled down sharply.

U.S. Government Securities (Tables IV-b-13, IV-b-13a, IV-b-13b, and IV-b-13c) cover di rect federal debt and guaranteed securities issued by federal agencies, including deman notes issued to the IMF. Nonguaranteed federal agency bonds and notes are excluded an placed under other bonds and notes (Table IV-b-15). Also excluded is privately held stoc issued by federal agencies, the largest element of which is Federal Home Loan Bank stoc owned by insured savings and loan associations.

In supplementary tables this category is divided into several parts, the estimates for which are less reliable than those for the totals. The subcategories are short-term securities (Table IV-b-13a), savings bonds (Table IV-b-13b), and other long-term securities (Table IV b-13c). The estimates of short-term holdings are taken mainly from FRB worksheets, and those for savings bonds from the Treasury ownership survey. The estimates for long-term securities other than savings bonds are thus a residual.

Both the FRB and the NBER balance sheets consolidate government corporations with the federal government to the extent that investments by the government in these corporations are netted out. Therefore there is no entry for agency securities held by the federal government or for federal advances to these agencies.

TABLE 12

U.S. Government Securities: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB federal obligations, assets	179.4	180.2	174.6	175.7	184.
2.	Plus FRB consumer-held savings bonds	50.0	50.2	50.1	48.2	47.
3.	Plus NBER U.S. govt. secur. held by fed. govt.	5.2	5.2	5.5	5.9	5.8
4.	Plus NBER U.S. govt. secur. held by federal					
	insur. and pension funds	44.4	46.5	48.4	49.4	48.
5.	Less FRB nonguar. federal obligations	2.1	3.6	4.2	6.3	5.8
6.	Less FRB rest-of-world holdings of federal		-			
	obligations	4.8	5.8	6.6	6.8	6.8
7.	Plus difference between FRB and NBER est. of					
	valuation discrepancy			0.2	0.4	0.
8.	Total of lines 1-7	272.1	272.7	268.0	266.5	274.
9.	NBER U.S. government securities, assets	272.1	272.7	268.1	266.4	274.
10.	FRB federal obligations, liabilities	179.3	180.4	175.3	176.7	185.
11.	Plus lines 2-4	99.6	101.9	104.0	103.5	101.
12.	Plus FRB demand notes issued to IMF	1.5	1.6	1.1	0.7	0.
13.	Less FRB nonguar. fed. obligations	2.1	3.6	4.2	6.3	5.
14.	Total of lines 10-13	278.3	280.3	276.2	274.6	282.
15.	NBER U.S. government securities, liabilities	278.4	280.4	276.3	274.6	282.

Line

- 1-2: Supplement 5, Table 23L, lines E and I.
 - 3: Table III-7, line II-13.
 - 4: Table III-5b-1, line II-13.
- 5-6: Supplement 5, Table 23L, lines D and p.
 - 7: *Ibid.*, line 5 (with sign reversed) minus Table IV-b-13, line 10.
 - 8: Sum of lines 1-4 and line 7, minus lines 5 and 6.

Line

- 9: Table IV-b-13, line 8.
- 10: Supplement 5, Table 23L, line A.
- 11: Sum of lines 2-4.
- 12: Supplement 5, Table 34L, line 5.
- 13: Ibid., Table 23L, line D.
- 14: Sum of lines 10-12, minus line 13.
- 15: Table IV-c-12, line 7a.

The FRB's federal obligation item differs from this one by including nonguaranteed securities but excluding consumer-held savings bonds, demand notes issued to the IMF, and all federal securities held by the federal government and federal agencies and trust funds, particularly the large social insurance funds.

On the liability side, these items account for all of the divergence between FRB and NBER figures, but, on the asset side, there is a difference in the estimate of the discrepancy between total assets and total liabilities. The discrepancy arises because liabilities are listed at par value and assets at book value. For most assets this type of discrepancy disappears in the process of estimating one sector (usually households) as a residual. For government bonds, however, the Treasury ownership survey, giving data by holder on a par value basis, permits direct estimation of the discrepancy for several holder groups. The NBER data estimate this only for banks, but the FRB makes a more comprehensive estimate, covering all sectors except households.

A supplementary table (IV-b-13d) revises the sectoral allocation of U.S. government securities given in A Study of Saving for benchmark years back to 1900. Aside from the redefinition of the sectors, the main change to match later years is elimination of the estimate for nonfarm unincorporated business holdings of these securities. The amounts have been added into the household sector.

State and Local Government Securities are all debts of state and local governments except for their trade debt and the obligations of their retirement and other insurance funds. The amounts shown here are larger than in Supplement 5 because we have included state and local debts to the federal government (included in "other loans" by the FRB) and an estimate of non-interest-bearing debt.

TABLE 13 State and Local Government Securities: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1. 2.	FRB state and local oblig., assets and liab. Plus FRB fed. govt. loans to state and local	42.5	46.0	49.2	53.8	59.5
	governments	0.5	0.5	0.6	8.0	1.0
3.	Plus NBER non-interest-bearing state and					
	local govt. debt	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.7
4.	Total of lines 1-3	43.6	47.1	50.4	55.3	61.2
5. 6.	NBER state and local govt. sec., liabilities Less NBER rest-of-world holdings of state	43.6	47.0	50.4	55.2	61.2
	and local securities	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
7.	Total of lines 5-6	43.5	47.0	50.3	55.2	61.1
8.	NBER state and local govt. sec., assets	43.5	47.0	50.3	55.1	61.1

Line

1: Supplement 5, Table 24L, line A.

2: Ibid., Table 32L, line n.

See note to Table III-6, line III-12.

4: Sum of lines 1-3.

Line

5: Table IV-c-12, line 6.

6: Table IV-b-14, line 9.

7: Line 4 minus line 6.

8: Table IV-b-14, line 8.

In the NBER accounts, total assets are estimated from total liabilities, with only a small estimate of foreign holdings as a discrepancy item, and nonfarm households as the residual sector. The state and local government sector is one case in which the FRB accounts do not completely consolidate a sector; total assets are shown including state and local securities held by the state and local governments themselves.

A supplementary table (IV-b-14a) gives data from A Study of Saving for benchmark years back to 1900 according to the postwar classification of sectors.

Other Bonds and Notes (Table IV-b-15) are made up mainly of corporate bonds, but also include foreign bonds, nonguaranteed bonds issued by U.S. government agencies, and commercial paper held outside banks. Total assets are derived from the liabilities of domestic nonfinancial corporations and finance companies (Table IV-c-12) by adding foreign bonds held in the United States and subtracting U.S. corporate bonds held abroad. Nonfarm household assets are calculated as a residual.

The closest FRB category, corporate and foreign bonds (Supplement 5, Table 25L, p. 89), excludes commercial paper and nonguaranteed bonds, listing the former under "other loans" and the latter under "U.S. government securities." A further divergence between the two sources arises from the use of different estimates of corporate bond liability. The NBER and FRB series start with the same 1945 value but the former (derived in David Meiselman's and Eli Shapiro's manuscript "Corporate Sources and Uses of Funds" from SEC data on "net change in outstanding corporate securities") rise faster, by about \$1 billion between 1945 and 1958

A supplementary table (IV-b-15a) gives data for corporate bonds from A Study of Saving at benchmark dates back to 1900. These have been allocated according to the postwar definitions of the sectors.

TABLE 14

Other Bonds and Notes: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1.	FRB corporate and foreign bonds, assets	57.6	61.4	66.5	73.8	80.2
2.	Plus FRB federal nonguaranteed sec.	2.1	3.6	4.2	6.3	5.8
3.	Plus NBER com. paper held outside banks	1.4	1.6	1.7	2.0	2.1
4.	Less FRB rest-of-world holdings of U.S.					
	corporate bonds	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5
5.	Total of lines 1-4	60.9	66.3	72.1	81.7	87.6
6.	NBER other bonds and notes, assets	61.4	67.1	72.9	82.8	88.7

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 25L, line E.
- 2: Ibid., Table 23L, line D.
- 3: Table III-51-a, sum of columns 4, 8, and 11.

Line

- 4: Supplement 5, Table 25L, line O.
- 5: Sum of lines 1 through 3, minus line 4.
- 6: Table IV-b-15, line 8.

Preferred Stock (Table IV-b-16) is calculated by cumulating new issues, less retirements and conversions, starting from a 1949 benchmark estimate (in Goldsmith's Supplementary Appendixes to Financial Intermediaries in the American Economy since 1900, 1958, Appendix F). No adjustment for price changes is made, and it is assumed in effect that holdings are reported at the original cost. The Federal Reserve Board combines preferred with common stock and it is therefore impossible to make any comparisons with their data.

Common Stock (Tables IV-b-17 and IV-b-17a) presents more serious problems. It is a much more important category and is subject to large changes in price whose influence far outweighs that of new issues. Furthermore, most common stock is held by households and there is thus relatively little direct information from the asset side. This situation contrasts with that for most other instruments, which are held mainly by financial institutions.

Even the definition of the total amount of stock outstanding presents difficulties, particularly for intercorporate holdings. The 1949 benchmark from Goldsmith's Supplementary Appendixes to Financial Intermediaries, which is the starting point for both the NBER and FRB series, includes some intercorporate stockholdings but not stock of wholly owned subsidiaries (Table F-5, pp. F-32 to F-34), even though the line is entitled "all stock outstanding." The estimated intercorporate holdings thus refer essentially to holdings of those stocks which are also held by others.

TABLE 15

Corporate Stock: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
1. FRB corporate stock, assets	258.0	317.0	338.0	299.0	418.0
 Plus NBER stock held by nonfin. corp. Plus NBER stock held by closed-end investment 	52.7	63.6	66.1	59.7	79.0
companies	4.7	5.7	5.2	4.9	6.1
4. Less FRB rest-of-world corp. stockholdings	5.3	6.6	7.0	6.1	8.3
5. Total of lines 1-4	310.1	379.7	402.3	357.5	494.8
6. NBER common and preferred stock, assets	298.6	364.3	381.6	347.5	465.4

Line

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 26L, line G.
- 2: Table III-4, sum of lines II-16 and II-17.
- 3: Table III-5f-2, sum of lines II-16 and II-17. 4: Supplement 5, Table 26L, line Q.

Line

- 5: Sum of lines 1-3, minus line 4.
- 6: Sum of Table IV-b-16, line 8, and Table IV-b-17, line 8.

The 1945 and 1949 figures from Financial Intermediaries are interpolated and extrapolated to 1958 by new stock issues and capital gains and losses. New stock issues are SEC estimates, with some additions, especially for new incorporations not covered by the SEC (Table IV-b-17a). The change in value of outstanding issues is calculated from Standard and Poor's 500-stock price index. New stock issues accounted for only a little over 10 per cent of the total change in the market value of stock outstanding between 1945 and 1958. All the rest was the effect of price changes on outstanding stock (including new stock after issuance). Corporate stockholdings were estimated, starting from the 1949 benchmark, by assuming that corporations purchased 5 per cent of new stock issues and that price changes on their existing stockholdings were identical with those for stocks in general. Since their share in new stock issues was assumed to be less than a third of their share in stock outstanding in 1945, a very high proportion—over 95 per cent—of the change from 1945 to 1958 was attributed to gains in the value of stock held.

The Federal Reserve Board used an entirely different method of estimating outstanding stock. Starting from a similar benchmark, they extrapolated by means of SEC data on the value of stock traded on exchanges (which accounted for almost two-thirds of the benchmark total). The underlying assumption is that stock traded on exchanges is a constant proportion of total (except intercorporate) stock outstanding.

The resulting FRB estimates rise more rapidly than the NBER series over the postwar period as a whole, and particularly after the 1949 benchmark. The FRB series also fluctuates more violently; after 1950 both its rises and its falls are greater than those in the NBER series, and some of the differences are substantial.

One reason for the sharper movements in the FRB series is that the dates involved are the last trading days of each year. The index underlying the NBER series uses an average of December and January to representend-of-year levels, a process which involves some smoothing. The effect of this difference in dating can be estimated by measuring the price changes implied by the NBER and FRB series (calculated roughly by subtracting new issues from changes in value outstanding) and comparing them with changes in the stock price index measured from December 31 to December 31 and from December-January to December-January.

For example, in 1953 the index implied by the FRB series declined 5.9 per cent and the one implied by the NBER series only 2.4 per cent. The difference can be explained largely by the fact that the year-end price index fell by 6.6 per cent as against 2.2 per cent for the index actually used in the calculation. Similarly, in 1954, the FRB implied price index rose 46.4 per cent and the NBER one only 38.8 per cent. Again the dating was mainly responsible. The stock price index used rose by 38.1 per cent while the end-of-year index rose 45 per cent. Much the same story was repeated during the 1957 decline and the 1958 increase in stock prices.

The greater volatility of the FRB series thus seems to be mainly attributable to its use of single-date valuations rather than the two-month averages used by the NBER. On the other hand, the relatively rising trend of the FRB series might be explained in several ways. One possibility is that the stock price index used in the NBER calculation is biased: that prices have been rising more quickly outside of the realm of the 500 stocks, either on exchanges other than the New York Stock Exchange or on stocks not traded on any exchanges. Another possibility, more favorable to the NBER estimates, is that the value of stocks traded on the exchanges is a biased extrapolator because the proportion of stocks so traded has been increasing. A third possible source of error is the estimate of stock held by corporations. An overestimate of the rise in this series would produce a downward bias in the NBER series for other stockholdings. The only events that could have brought about a substantial overestimate in the NBER figures would have been a slower rise in prices for corporation-owned stocks than for others or substantial net sales of stock investments by corporations.

There is no liability table corresponding to the asset categories for corporate stock. The matching item on the liability side of the nonfinancial corporation balance sheet is line IV, "equity," which is the difference between the market value of assets and the value of liabilities. The corporate stock asset category includes financial corporations too, and it is therefore necessary to include on the liability side the equity line for commercial banks, investment companies, life insurance, fire and casualty insurance, and finance companies. The matching is still not perfect, however. Stock life insurance companies' equity includes no estimate of retained earnings, all of which are attributed here to policyholders. And equity of brokers and dealers is all included here under unincorporated business although some of them are incorporated.

A supplementary table (IV-b-17c) shows the sectoral distribution of corporate stock at benchmark dates back to 1900. Data from A Study of Saving were arranged according to the sector definitions used for the postwar years.

Equity in Mutual Financial Organizations (Table IV-b-18) consists of the equity, all assumed to be owned by nonfarm households, of mutual savings banks, savings and loan associations, and credit unions. Equity in other mutual financial organizations has been dispersed over several categories. That of mutual insurance companies appears in the reserves of private pension and insurance organizations (Tables IV-c-3 and IV-c-4) and the equity of farm cooperatives appears to be scattered among insurance organizations and nonfarm unincorporated business. On the asset side, farm cooperative equity is listed under "other assets" of agriculture.

Equity in Other Business (Table IV-b-19) consists mainly of equity of unincorporated business (including brokers and dealers) but includes also the equity of the federal government in the Exchange Stabilization Fund. All unincorporated business equity is allocated to the non-farm household sector, but part of it duplicates equity in farm cooperatives already covered in agriculture sector assets. Another part represents the equity of incorporated brokers and dealers which is already presumably covered by household sector holdings of corporate stock.

Other Intangible Assets and Liabilities (Tables IV-b-20 and IV-c-13) are a miscellany best described in connection with the individual sector estimates below. They include many unidentifiable items estimated in the course of making up complete balance sheets for sectors, and many types of current assets not specified elsewhere, such as accruals and prepayments. Among the major assets included are direct investments abroad by U.S. corporations, the U.S. subscription to the IMF and IBRD, and corporation income taxes owed to the U.S. government. Data were not considered adequate for estimation of personal income tax liabilities to the federal governments or other tax liabilities to state and local governments. Among the important items in other liabilities are the previously mentioned tax accruals and policyholders' equity in fire and casualty companies.

The FRB category "miscellaneous financial transactions" contains the same direct investment assets and liabilities and other foreign assets as the NBER group but does not attempt to cover the accrual, current, and unidentified items which make up the rest of the class. This is partly because the FRB did not attempt complete balance sheets for all the sectors included; many of the NBER figures for other assets and liabilities were estimated by subtracting identified from total assets and liabilities.

Equities or Net Worth, although not shown in a separate table in Section IV, is an important part of the sectoral and national balance sheets. It is defined as the difference between the market value of a sector's assets and the value of its liabilities. Two equity classifica-

tions—equity in mutual financial organizations and equity in other (mainly nonfarm unincorporated) business—are listed at the same value on both sides of the balance sheets. The net worth of corporate business, as mentioned earlier, is valued independently on the asset side, and the two valuations are often far apart.

Classification of Sectors

The accounts presented here are divided into eight major sectors, one of which is finance. The finance sector is subdivided into thirteen subsectors in Section II and many of these are further subdivided in Section III. Most of these detailed finance subsectors need little description or explanation but the boundaries of the major sectors are much more hazy. Although those delineated here are similar to the corresponding sectors in A Study of Saving and in the Federal Reserve Board flow-of-funds accounts, there are considerable divergencies in detail. This section lists the NBER sectors, defines them, and describes the most important respects in which they differ from those in other sources.

A number of reconciliation tables are included which identify the most important items of discrepancy between the NBER and FRB accounts for specific assets and liabilities within sectors.

Nonfarm Household estimates (Table III-1) are derived almost entirely as residuals. The sector's holdings of almost every asset and its debt on almost every liability are calculated by first estimating the total value of that asset outstanding and then deducting the estimated holdings of every other sector. The balance sheet of this sector therefore includes all items mistakenly omitted from other sectors and the consequences of all errors made in estimating total outstandings for any instrument.

In principle, the nonfarm household sector includes all individuals except farmers and all nonprofit organizations. Personal trust funds are consolidated with households, but separate balance sheets have been drawn up for total personal trust funds (Table III-1a), personal trust funds other than common trust funds (Table III-1b), and common trust funds (Table III-1c). These funds can therefore be separated from the household sector. If this were done, an entry would have to be added to household assets for equity in personal trust funds.

It should be noted that owners of farms are treated differently from owners of nonfarm unincorporated businesses. The latter's personal assets are segregated from their businesses and retained in the household sector, while farmers are consolidated into a combined farm business and farm household sector. The Federal Reserve Board does attempt to make the separation for farmers, placing certain of their assets and liabilities in the household sector.

The combination of households with nonprofit organizations is clearly undesirable and can only be justified on the grounds of lack of data. Some pieces of information are available, however. Tangible assets of nonprofit organizations are estimated annually for 1945 to 1958 in Goldsmith's National Wealth (Table A-51, p. 206). The FRB has made estimates of nonprofit organizations' liability on bank loans, n.e.c. (Supplement 5, p. 102), federal government loans (ibid., p. 105), trade debt (ibid., p. 111), and commercial mortgages (ibid., p. 95). Rough estimates of complete balance sheets for a number of years can be found in A Study of Saving (Vol. III, Table W-25, p. 72) and in Mendelson's The Flow-of-Funds (Tables 24-1 and 24-2, p. 1-220).

One of the major differences between the FRB and NBER balance sheets for households arises from the arbitrary nature of the division between personal and unincorporated business assets. The FRB accounts show mortgage debt on rented one- to four-family houses as a liability of unincorporated nonfinancial business. The NBER accounts place these houses, and therefore the mortgage debt on them, in the household sector, thus treating them as investments rather than as businesses.

The differences between the FRB and NBER accounts in the treatment of farm households are reflected in several lines of the balance sheet, as can be seen in the reconciliation Tables 16 and 17. Among assets, time deposits, private and government insurance policies, and savings bonds are placed in the agriculture sector by the NBER and in the consumer sector by the FRB, and among liabilities the same is true of consumer debt and insurance policy loans of farmers.

Other discrepancies between the two sets of accounts arise from differences in estimating total outstandings (as in the case of state and local government securities, corporate stock, and insurance reserves) or holdings by other sectors (as in federal obligations and corporate stock). Some discrepancies arise from the use of different estimating methods, such as in

TABLE 16

Nonfarm Household Assets: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Line II-1					
1. FRB demand deposits and currency	59.0	58.2	59.1	58.2	60.9
2. NBER currency and demand deposits	59.3	58.6	59.5	58.5	61.4
Line II-2					
3. FRB fixed-value redeemable claims	150.6	159.3	168.3	178.1	191.7
4. Less FRB U.S. savings bonds	50.0	50.2	50.1	48 .2	47.7
5. Less NBER agric. sector, other bank deposits and shares	0.5	0.0	0.0		
6. Total of lines 3-5	2.5 98.1	2.6 106.5	2.6 115.6	$\frac{2.9}{127.0}$	3.1 140.9
7. NBER other bank deposits and shares	97.8	106.3	115.4	126.8	140.6
Line II-3					
8. FRB savings in life insurance, private	64.2	67.6	71.1	73.8	77.2
9. Plus FRB savings in life ins. co. pension funds	10.0	11.2	12.4	14.0	15.5
Plus NBER additional assets incl. in insur.					
reserves	14.7	16.5	17.5	18.7	20.1
11. Less NBER other liab. and equities, fraternal					
orders and life insur. 12. Less NBER rest-of-world holdings of insur.	3.0	3.4	3.8	3.9	4.2
12. Less NBER rest-of-world holdings of insur. reserves	1.6	1 0	1.0	2.0	2.1
13. Less NBER agric. sector insur. reserves	5.6	1.8 5.9	1.9 6.2	2.0 6.4	6.7
14. Total of lines 8-13	78.7	84.2	89.1	94.2	99.8
15. NBER life insurance reserves, private	78.4	84.0	89.0	93.8	99.7
Line II-4					
16. FRB savings in pension funds, private	22.6	26.1	29.7	34.0	38.5
17. Plus NBER adjustment to total private pens.					
funds	1.4	2.4	2.6	2.1	4.5
18. Less FRB saving in life ins. co. pens. funds 19. Total of lines 16-18	10.0	11.2	12.4	14.0	15.5
20. NBER pension and retirement funds, private	$14.0 \\ 14.3$	17.3 17.4	19.9 20 .0	22.1 22.3	27.5 27.8
•	14.5	11.4	20.0	22.5	21.0
<u>Line II-5</u> . 21. FRB savings in life insurance, govt.	6.0	5.9	6.0	6.2	6.2
22. FRB savings in pension funds, govt.	18.7	20.7	23.0	25.1	27.9
23. Plus NBER adjustment to total govt. pens. and	10.1	20	20.0	20.1	21.0
ins. funds	30.2	31.5	32.7	32.7	30.3
24. Less NBER agric. sector, govt. life ins. funds	.4	.4	.4	.4	.4
25. Total of lines 21-24	54.5	57.7	61.3	63.6	64.0
26. NBER pension and ins. funds, govt.	54.8	58.0	61.6	64.4	65.7
Lines II-6, II-7, and II-9 No household asset	ets				
<u>Line II-8</u> No assets; see lin	ne II-10				
Line II-10					
27. FRB security credit	1.0	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.2
28. Plus NBER sav. and loan assoc. loans in process	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.1
29. Total of lines 27-28	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8	2.3
30. NBER other loans	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.3	3.1
					_

TABLE 16 (continued)

	1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
			_		
Line II-11a (1- to 4-family)					
31. FRB 1- to 4-family mortgages	8.9	9.2	9.7	10.6	11.2
32. Less NBER face amt. invest. co. holdings	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2
33. Total of lines 31-32	8.6	8.9	9.4	10.3	11.0
34. NBER 1- to 4-family mortgages	8.6	8.9	9.6	10.3	11.0
Line II-11a (multifamily)		• •			
35. FRB multifamily and com. mortgages	8.3	8.9	9.6	10.4	11.6
36. Less NBER nonfarm nonresident. mortg.	6.9	7.6	8.3	8.9	9.9
37. Total of lines 35-36	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.5	1.7
38. NBER multifamily mortages	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.8
Line II-11b		0.0	0.0	10.4	11.0
39. FRB multifamily and com. mortgages	8.3	8.9	9.6	10.4	11.6
40. Less NBER multifamily mortgages	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.8
41. Total of lines 39-40	6.9	7.4	8.0	8.7	9.8
42. NBER nonfarm nonresidential mortgages	6.9	7.6	8.3	8.9	9.9
Line II-12					
43. FRB farm mortgages	3.5	3.7	4.0	4.3	4.6
44. NBER farm mortgages	3.4	3.6	4.0	4.2	4.5
11. HDD1 laim mortgages	0.4	3.0	1.0	7.2	4.0
Line II-13b					
45. FRB U.S. savings bonds	50.0	50.2	50.1	48.2	47.7
46. Plus FRB nonprofit org. savings bonds	1.2	1.2	1.0	0.7	0.6
47. Less NBER agric. sector savings bonds	5.0	5.2	5.1	5.1	5.2
48. Total of lines 45-47	46.2	46.2	46.0	43.8	43.1
49. NBER savings bonds	46.4	46.5	46.2	43.9	43.0
Lines II-13a and II-13c					
50. FRB federal obligations	13.9	16.1	17.1	18.0	15.6
51. Less FRB nonguar. federal obligations	0.3	0.9	1.2	1.9	1.6
52. Less FRB nonprofit org. savings bonds		1.2	1.0	0.7	0.6
53. Less NBER nonfinancial corp. holdings of	1.2	1.2	1.0	0.7	0.0
govt. bonds	18.8	22.8	18.2	17.4	17.6
54. Plus FRB nonfinancial corp. holdings of	10.0	22.0	10.2	11.4	11.0
	10.0	99.9	10.0	10.4	10.0
federal obligations	19.0	23.2	18.8	18.4	19.2
55. Total of lines 50-54	12.6	14.4	15.5	16.4	15.0
56. NBER U.S. govt. sec. excl. savings bonds	12.4	14.2	15.6	16.7	15.6
I inc II-14					
Line II-14	400	10.4	01.0	00.1	04.0
57. FRB state and local obligations	17.7	19.4	21.0	23.1	24.3
58. Plus NBER non-interest-bearing debt of					
state and local govts.	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.7
59. Total of lines 57-58	18.3	20.0	21.6	23.8	25.0
60. NBER state and local govt. securities	17.9	19.6	21.2	23.4	24.8
Line II-15	4.0	- 4			0.0
61. FRB corporate and foreign bonds	4.2	5.4	6.6	7.7	8.3
62. Plus FRB nonguar, federal securities	0.3	0.9	1.2	1.9	1.6
63. Plus FRB nonguar, federal secur, held by					
savings and loan assoc.	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.5
64. Total of lines 61-63	4.6	6.4	8.1	10.1	10.4
65. NBER other bonds and notes	5.3	7.2	8.9	10.7	11.0
					

TABLE 16 (concluded)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	
Lines II-16 and II-17							
66. FRB corporate stock		233.6	287.5	306.3	268.2	376.9	
67. Less differences bet. FRB and NBER		200.0	201.0	000.0	200.2	010.0	
estimates of total stock outstanding		11.5	15.4	20.7	10.0	29.4	
68. Less NBER corporate stock held by		11.0	2012	2011	10.0	20.,	
noninsured pension plans		4.0	5.6	6.6	7.0	10.8	
69. Plus FRB corporate stock held by		1.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	10.0	
noninsured pension plans		2.9	3.7	4.6	5.7	7.1	
70. Total of lines 66-69		221.0	270.2	283.6	256.9	343.8	
71. NBER corporate stock		220.8	269.9	283.1	256.1	343.0	
NBER corporate stock		220.0	203.3	203.1	250.1	J#J.(
Lines II-18, II-19, and II-20 Not es	timated	by FRB					
Line	Line						
1: Supplement 5, Table 8(A), line V.	31:	Supplement	5, Table	27L, lir	ne B.		
2: Table III-1, line II-1.		Table IV-b					
3-4: Supplement 5, Table 8(A), lines W and Z.		Line 31 mir					
5: Table III-3, line II-2.		Table IV-b					
6: Line 3 minus lines 4 and 5. 7: Table III-1, line II-2.		Supplement			ie O.		
8: Supplement 5, Table 8(A).		,42: Table IV-b-11b, line 1. 37: Line 35 minus line 36.					
9: Ibid., Table 22L, line G.		Table IV-b					
10: Table 4, sum of lines 3-8.		Line 39 mir					
11: Table 4, sum of lines 10-11.		Supplement			ne P.		
12: Table 4, line 14.	44:	Table III-1,	line II-	12.			
13: Table III-3, line II-3.		Supplement		8(A), li	ne Z.		
14: Sum of lines 8-10, minus lines 11-13.		FRB works		• 01			
15: Table III-1, line II-3.		Table III-3,			no 47		
16: Supplement 5, Table 8(A).		Sum of line Table III-1,			me 47.		
17: Table 5, sum of lines 3-4, minus line 2. 18: Line 9, above		Supplement			nes Fan	dH.	
19: Sum of lines 16-17, minus line 18.		FRB works					
20: Table III-1, line II-4.		Table III-4,		13.			
21-22: Supplement 5, Table 8(A).	54:	Supplement	5, Table	23 L, lin	ne J.		
23: Table 6, sum of lines 4-6.		Sum of line					
24: Table III-3, line II-5.		Table III-1,				II-13c.	
25: Sum of lines 21-24.		Supplement					
26: Table III-1, line II-5.		See note to Sum of line		i-o, ime	111-12.		
27: Supplement 5, Table 30L, line K.		Table III-1,		14			
28: See Table III-5e, note to line III-10. 29: Sum of lines 27-28.	61:	Supplement	5. Table	8(A). li	ne f.		
30: Table III-1, line II-10. Almost all the	62-63:	Ibid., Table	23L, 1ir	nes H and	d d .		
discrepancy between lines 29 and 30 is	64:	Sum of line	s 61-63.				
due to differences between NBER and		Table III-1					
FRB estimates of customer credit		Supplement					
balances at brokers and dealers. The		Table 15, li				1 10	
NBER estimates are higher by the follow-		Table III-5				1-17.	
ing amounts (billion dollars): 1954 0.7,		Supplement Sum of line				38	
1955 0.6, 1956 0.6, 1957 0.7, 1958		Table III-1					
0.9.		Table III-I	Juin OI	11105 11-	LU and II		

the case of security credit where the NBER data used a larger ratio in estimating total customers' credit balances from those for New York Stock Exchange member firms.

A supplementary table (III-1d) shows nonfarm household balance sheets for benchmark years from 1900 through 1945. These are from Volume III of A Study of Saving, but they have been revised to improve comparability with the postwar data. Among the major changes were the substitution of revised mortgage estimates (see Table IV-b-11c), the inclusion of government bond holdings allocated to unincorporated business by Goldsmith (with a corre-

sponding reduction in equity in unincorporated business), and the elimination of tax accruals,

which were not estimated for the postwar years. Also, payables to financial intermediaries were subdivided by type of debt; monetary metals were transferred to intangible assets; and time deposits were separated from demand deposits.

TABLE 17 Nonfarm Household Liabilities: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

1954

1955

1956

1957

1958

Lines III-1 through III-5 No household l	iabilities				
Line III-6					
FRB consumer credit liabilities Plus FRB consumer bank loans offset by	32.5	38.9	42.5	45.3	45.5
hypothecated deposits	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6
3. Less NBER agric. sector consumer debt	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.3
4. Total of lines 1-3	32.0	38.2			44.8
5. NBER consumer debt	31.9	38.2	41.9	44.8	44.8
Line III-7 No discrepanc	у				
Line III-8					
6. FRB security credit liabilities	4.1	4.8	4.8	4.4	. 5.5
7. NBER loans on securities	4.6	5.4	5.3	4.9	6.2
<u>Line III-9</u> No discrepanc	у				i
Line III-10				•	
8. FRB other loans	3.9	4.2	4.5	5.0	5.5
9. Less FRB consumer bank loans offset by					
hypothecated deposits	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6.	0.6
10. Less FRB federal govt. loans to nonprofit				0.1	0.0
organizations 11. Less NBER agric. sector policy loans	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1 0.3	0.2 0.3
12. Total of lines 8-11	3.2	3.5	3.7	4.0	4.4
13. NBER other loans	3.2	3.4	3.7	4.0	4.4
Line III-11	20.0	01.5	00.0	101.0	4400
14. FRB consumer debt: 1- to 4-family mortg. 15. FRB nonprofit orgs.: other mortg.	69. 2 0.6	$81.5 \\ 0.7$	$92.6 \\ 0.7$	101.3 0.8	
16. Plus FRB noncorporate nonfinancial bus.:	0.0	0.7	0.7	0.8	0.9
1- to 4-family mortg. liability	5.0	5.2	5.0	5.0	5.2
17. Total of lines 14-16	74.8	87.4	98.3		
18. NBER mortgage debt	74.8	87.4	98.4	107.1	117.0
Lines III-12 and III-13 No liabilities					

^{2:} Ibid., Table 32L, line z.

^{3:} Table III-3, line III-6.

^{4:} Sum of lines 1-2, minus line 3.

^{5:} Table III-1, line III-6.

^{6:} Supplement 5, Table 8(A), line n.

^{7:} Table III-1, line III-8.

^{8:} Supplement 5, Table 8 (A). line o. 9-10: Ibid., Table 32L, lines z and qq.

^{12:} Line 8 minus sum of lines 9-11.

^{13:} Table III-1, line III-10.

^{14-15:} Supplement 5, Table 8(A), lines 1 and "other mortgages."

^{16:} Ibid., Table 8(C).

^{17:} Sum of lines 14-16.

^{18:} Table III-1, line III-11.

The Nonfarm Unincorporated Business balance sheet (Table III-2) is probably the least reliable of all except households. Estimates are made only for certain assets and liabilities which seem clearly to be business rather than personal (multifamily and commercial structures and land, producer durables, consumer and trade credit, trade debt, and multifamily and commercial mortgage debt). For only a few items (such as currency and demand deposits) is an attempt made to split assets between households and unincorporated business.

Aside from the treatment of one- to four-family homes, described earlier, the FRB and NBER sectors are very similar, because the latter is constructed mainly from FRB data. Both estimates treat farm cooperatives ambiguously. Their tangible assets (roughly \$5 billion in 1958, according to Table III-3a) are probably scattered among unincorporated busi-

TABLE 18

Nonfarm Unincorporated Business: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958		
Line II-1	No discrepancy	-		_		_		
Lines II-2 through II-5	No nonfarm unincorpo	orated busin	ess ass	sets				
Lines II-6 and II-7	No discrepancy	No discrepancy						
Lines II-8 through II-20	No nonfarm unincorpo	orated busin	ess ass	sets				
Lines III-1 through III-6	No nonfarm unincorpo	orated busin	ess lia	bilities				
Line III-7	No discrepancy							
Line III-8	No nonfarm unincorporated business liabilities							
Line III-9 1. FRB bank loans, n.e.c. 2. Plus FRB bank-held ope 3. Plus difference between corporate bank debt 4. Total of lines 1-3 5. NBER bank loans, n.e.c.		8.2 1.0 -0.4 8.8 8.6	9.2 0.8 0.1 10.1 10.0	9.8 0.9 10.7 10.7	9.6 1.1 10.7 10.6	10.1 1.2 1.4 12.7 12.4		
Line III-10 6. FRB other loans 7. Less FRB noncorp. nonfacceptances 8. Total of lines 6-7 9. NBER other loans	in. bus. liab. on	4.5 0.3 4.2 3.9	5.3 0.2 5.1 4.9	5.7 0.2 5.5 5.0	6.2 0.3 5.9 5.3	6.4 0.3 6.1 5.4		
Line III-11	No discrepancy betwee				nd FRB	multi-		
Lines III-12 and III-13 No nonfarm unincorporated business liabilities								

ine

- 1: Supplement 5, Table 8(C), line Q.
 - 2: Ibid., Table 32L, sum of lines V, a, and d.
 - 3: Table 20.
 - 4: Sum of lines 1-3.
 - 5: Table III-2, line III-9.

Line

- 6: Supplement 5, Table 8(C), line R.
 - 7: Ibid., Table 32L, line g.
 - 8: Line 6 minus line 7.
 - 9: Table III-2, line III-10.

ness, corporate business, and agriculture, as are many of their other assets and liabilities, but most of them are probably in this sector. It is clear that the unincorporated business indebtedness to the federal government (included in line III-10) consists largely of loans to farm cooperatives.

The two items for which a reconciliation is attempted in Table 18, bank loans, n.e.c., and other loans, are both estimated as residuals in the NBER accounts. It is therefore difficult to know exactly what is contained in the figures for the nonfarm unincorporated business sector and to explain the discrepancies with the FRB accounts.

Supplementary Table III-2a gives earlier balance sheets for this sector with some adjustments for comparability with later years. The main change was elimination of the estimate for holdings of government bonds, which were transferred to the household sector, a shift of some cash assets to nonfarm households, and subdivision of the category "payables to financial intermediaries."

Agriculture (Table III-3) includes all households engaged primarily in farming, and its balance sheet contains all their assets and liabilities including those not used in agriculture. It also contains agricultural assets owned by nonfarm households and corporations even though no specific entry is made for agricultural assets in the nonfarm household balance sheet. Stock in agricultural corporations presumably is included there but not ownership of farms themselves.

TABLE 19

Agriculture: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958	
Line II-1	No discrepancy						
Lines II-2, II-3, II-5, and II-13	Not estimated by FRB; included in nonfarm house- hold (consumer) sector						
Lines II-4, II-6 through II-12, II-14 through II-19	No agriculture sector assets						
Line II-20	Mostly not estimated by FRB; only a very small item for equity in federal land banks is shown in farm business sector balance sheet						
Lines III-1 through III-5, III-8, III-12, and III-13	No agriculture sector liabilities						
Line III-6	Not estimated by FI (consumer) sector	RB; inc	luded i	n nonfa	rm hous	sehold	
Lines III-7 and III-9	No discrepancy						
Line III-10 1. FRB other loans 2. Plus NBER agric. sec. life insur 3. Total of lines 1-2 4. NBER other loans	. policy loans	1.1 0.2 1.3 1.3	1.1 0.2 1.3 1.3		1.4 0.3 1.7 1.6	1.6 0.3 1.9 1.9	
Line III-11	No discrepancy						

Line

3: Sum of lines 1-2.

4: Table III-3, line III-10.

Line

1: Supplement 5, Table 8(B), line P.

2: See Table III-3, note to line III-10.

The Federal Reserve Board, as mentioned above, includes only farm business assets, leaving such items as equity in insurance and consumer debt in the household or "consumer" sector.

In A Study of Saving farm cooperatives were consolidated into the agriculture sector; their total assets, rather than just farmers' equity as in Table III-3, were therefore included. In this volume most of their assets are in the nonfarm unincorporated business sector, as was mentioned earlier. However, a separate balance sheet for agricultural cooperatives was calculated (Table III-3a) along with supporting balance sheets for specific types of cooperatives. These include cooperatives for purchase, supply, and related services (Table III-3a-1), rural electric cooperatives and farmers' mutual telephone companies (Table III-3a-2), and farmers' mutual irrigation companies (Table III-3a-3). The farm cooperative balance sheets draw together assets and liabilities which are scattered through the other sectors.

Almost all the differences between these figures and those of the Federal Reserve Board (Table 19) involve the inclusion of nonbusiness assets and liabilities of farm households, such as time deposits, insurance and pension funds, savings bonds, consumer debt, and life insurance policy loans.

Supplementary Table III-3b revises the prewar balance sheets to match the new ones, by moving monetary metals to intangible assets, separating time from demand deposits, breaking payables into components, and substituting equity in farm cooperatives for the total assets of these organizations.

Nonfinancial Corporations (Table III-4) include all except corporate farms and those corporations specifically listed as part of the finance sector. Banks, insurance companies, investment companies, and finance companies (sales, personal, and business finance, and mortgage companies) are all excluded, but real estate corporations, including lessors, are included.

Data for all corporations are based on Statistics of Income tabulations in which industry and balance sheet categories are broadly defined and are, furthermore, obscured by consolidation of parent and subsidiary accounts. Data for financial corporations, on the other hand, are from sources in which the industries and the individual assets and liabilities are more precisely defined. It is often not clear, therefore, whether the financial sectors and items eliminated from the corporation total correspond with those entered in the finance sector. There is a considerable chance that some items are included under both nonfinancial corporations and finance, and that others are omitted from both. For example, incorporated brokers and dealers in securities are in the finance sector, combined with the unincorporated ones, which are more important. However, corporate brokers and dealers have not been removed from nonfinancial corporations, and there is therefore some overlapping between the two groups.

The main differences between the NBER and FRB corporate sector balance sheets follow from the fact that the latter consolidate this sector, netting out most intercorporate assets. This process eliminates several lines which appear in the NBER balance sheet and virtually removes holding companies and closed-end investment companies from the corporate sector. An exception to the netting of intercorporate assets by the Federal Reserve Board is trade credit, for which the amounts extended to other corporations are included in the balance sheet.

The reconciliation with FRB estimates (Table 20) is incomplete for several items. The main differences in the trade credit estimates have been discussed earlier in connection with the calculation of total trade credit outstanding, and those for corporate bonds in connection with the totals for that item. The FRB data include closed-end investment companies (except intercorporate investments), which are in the NBER finance sector, and at least in some assets appear to include corporate farms, even though conceptually they should have been removed.

It is impossible to make a real reconciliation for "other assets" and "other liabilities," since the Federal Reserve Board shows only foreign investments in these categories while the NBER figures include large amounts, only vaguely identified, which arise in the estimation of a complete corporate balance sheet. Part of the assets and most of the liabilities are current items excluded in all the FRB data.

Supplementary Table III-4b, which provides a nonfinancial corporation balance sheet for earlier years, is substantially different from that in A Study of Saving. The major changes resulted from the adjustment of the finance sector to the postwar definition and can best be described in connection with that sector.

TABLE 20

Nonfinancial Corporations: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Line II-1						
1. FRB demand deposits and curren	cv	30.9	32.0	32.1	32.1	33.8
2. Less NBER closed-end investm		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
3. Less NBER corporate farms		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
4. Total of lines 1-3		30.6	31.7	31.8	31.8	33.4
5. NBER currency and demand depo	sits	30.5	31.5	31.6	31.6	33.3
Line II-2	No discrepancy					
Lines II-3, II-4, and II-5	No nonfinancial	corporatio	on asset	s		
<u>Line II-6</u>	No discrepancy					
Line II-7						
6. FRB trade credit 7. Plus FRB receivables deducted	l hol. a a	53.7	63.8	69. 8	71.6	78.1
7. Plus FRB receivables deducted and dealers	i, prokers	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.6
8. Plus FRB receivables deducted	d. credit agencies		0.4	0.5	0.4	0.0
other than banks	., 0100100	13.2	17.6	19.9	22.4	22.8
9. Less NBER rcvbl. deducted, fi	nance cos.	11.6	15.7	16.9	18.5	17.7
10. Less NBER rcvbl. deducted, co		.4	.3	.4	.4	.5
11. Total of lines 6-10		55.2	65.8	72.9	75.5	83.3
12. NBER trade credit		55.1	65.9	73.0	75.7	83.4
<u>Lines II-8 through II-12</u> No nonfinancial corporation assets						
Line II-13						
13. FRB federal obligations		19.1	23.5	19.2	19.2	19.8
Less FRB nonguar. federal obl	igations	0.1	0.3	0.4	8.0	0.6
Less NBER closed-end invest.	cos.	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
16. Less NBER corporate farms		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
17. Total of lines 13-16		18.8	23.0	18.6	18.2	19.0
18. NBER U.S. government securitie	es	18.8	22.8	18.2	17.4	17.6
Line II-14	No discrepancy					
Lines II-15, II-16, and II-17	Not estimated by porate holding					r-
Lines II-18 and II-19	No nonfinancial	corporatio	on asset	s		
Line II-20						
19. FRB miscellaneous financial ass	ets	17.9	19.5	22.4	25.4	27.5
20. Plus nonfin. corp., other cur.		2.2	3.0	4.5	5.2	5.4
21. Plus nonfin. corp., other asset	s	10.8	11.2	10.9	12.0	11.8
22. Total of lines 19-21		30.9	33.7		42.6	44.7
23. NBER other intangible assets		29.7	34.5	40.5	47.1	48.1
Lines III-1 through III-6	No nonfinancial	corporatio	on liabi	lities		

TABLE 20 (concluded)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Line III-7						
24. FRB trade debt		40.8	49.7	54.0	53.9	57.0
25. NBER trade debt		44.6	54.9	60.5	62.5	8.86
<u>Line III-8</u> No disc	repancy					
Line III-9						
26. FRB bank loans, n.e.c.		16.7	19.5	24.8	26.8	27.3
27. NBER bank loans, n.e.c.		17.1	19.4	24.8	26.8	2 5.9
Line III-10						
28. FRB other loans		2.8	3.0	3.2	3.7	3.8
29. Less NBER finance company trade cree	dit	0.9	1.1	1.3	1.4	1.7
30. Total of lines 28-29		1.9	1.9	1.9	2.3	2.1
31. NBER other loans		1.6	2.1	2.0	2.3	2.2
<u>Line III-11</u> No disc	repancy					
Line III-12						
32. FRB corporate bonds		50.1	52.8	56.4	62.6	68.4
33. Plus NBER com. paper other than finar	nce	00.1	02.0		•=.•	
co., held outside banks		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
34. Total of lines 32-33		50.3	53.0	56.6	62.8	68.7
35. NBER bonds and notes		51.0	53.7	57.4	63.8	69.7
Line III-13						
36. FRB miscellaneous liabilities		4.0	4.3	4.5	4.8	4.9
37. Plus NBER tax liability		15.5	19.3	17.6	15.4	12.9
38. Plus NBER other current liabilities		22 .5	25.7	29.0	31.1	33.3
39. Total of lines 36-38		42.0	49.3	51.1	51.3	51.1
40. NBER other liabilities		48.1	54.7	58.1	60.6	60.8
Line	Line					
1: Supplement 5, Table 8(D), line o.	20-21: "	'Corporate	Sources	and Use	s of Fun	ds,''
2: Table III-5f-2, line II-1. 3: Meiselman and Shapiro, "Corporate	22: S	Table C-1a, Sum of lines	11nes 9	and 10.		
Sources and Uses of Funds," Table C-9,	23: T	Table III-4,	line II-2	20.		
column 2.		Supplement			ne c.	
4: Line 1 minus lines 2 and 3. 5: Table III-4, line II-1.		Table III-4, Supplement			ne a.	
6: Supplement 5, Table 8(D), line T.		Table III-4,				
7-8: FRB worksheets.		upplement			ne b.	
9: Table III-51, sum of lines II-6 and II-7.		Table III-51 Line 28 min				
10: "Corporate Sources and Uses of Funds," Table C-11, column 2.		Table III-4,				
11: Sum of lines 6-8, minus lines 9 and 10.	32: S	Supplement	5, Table	8(D), li	ne X.	
12: Table III-4, line II-7.		Table III-5l		mn 11.		
13: Supplement 5, Table 8(D), line Q.		Sum of lines Table I II- 4,		12		
14: <i>Ibid.</i> , Table 23 L, line K. 15: Table III-5f-2, line II-13.	36: S	Supplement	5, Table	8(D).		
16: "Corporate Sources and Uses of Funds,"	37-38: '	'Corporate	Sources	and Use	es of Fur	ıds,''
Table C-10, column 3.		Table C-1b		and 8.		
17: Line 13 minus the sum of lines 14-16. 18: Table III-4, line II-13.		Sum of line: Cable III-4,		13.		
19: Supplement 5, Table 8(D).		-,	•			

Finance (Table III-5) is a mixture of government and private agencies: corporations, cooperatives, and unincorporated businesses, all of which perform some sort of financial services. Among government or quasigovernmental agencies are the Federal Reserve banks, Treasury monetary funds, and federal, state, and local government pension, retirement, and other insurance funds. Corporations include banks, stock insurance, investment, and finance companies. Also included are several types of mutual or cooperative organizations such as mutual insurance companies, savings banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, and cooperative agricultural credit agencies.

The FRB accounts do not show any total finance sector, and the reconciliations for finance are therefore performed for each type of institution separately.

The finance sector balance sheet for 1900-45 (Table III-50) is much narrower in coverage than the sector defined in A Study of Saving. It consists mainly of the banking system, financial intermediaries other than the banking system and government corporations, and unincorporated brokers and dealers. To these were added finance companies (using data from Financial Intermediaries), mortgage companies, and Treasury monetary funds, while investment holding companies and the postal savings system were subtracted. Excluded from the finance sector were financial corporations other than financial intermediaries (except for finance companies), consisting mainly of real estate and holding companies. These were placed, along with investment holding companies, in the nonfinancial corporation sector. Also excluded from finance were government lending agencies which, together with the postal savings system, were moved into the federal government sector.

Financial intermediaries, as covered by the broadest definition used in Goldsmith's Financial Intermediaries (Table A-28), are also a wider group than the present one. They include government corporations and credit agencies, federal land banks, the postal savings system, and investment holding companies, all excluded here, and personal trust funds, which are placed in the household sector in these balance sheets. However, they do not cover the Treasury monetary funds.

Most of the individual finance subsectors are self-explanatory as far as sector coverage is concerned, but there are many differences in the treatment of individual items, as well as a few points of sectoring, that should be mentioned.

Federal Reserve Banks (Table III-5a-1) and Treasury Monetary Funds (Table III-5a-2) are combined into a monetary authorities subsector in the FRB accounts and into Table III-5a here. The Treasury monetary funds are not, strictly speaking, an institution. They consist of the Exchange Stabilization Fund and the Treasury's stock of monetary metals and liability on gold certificates. The monetary funds are excluded from Financial Intermediaries and placed in the federal government sector in A Study of Saving.

TABLE 21
Federal Reserve Banks and Treasury Monetary Funds:
Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

(billion dollars)

	1954	1955	1956_	1957	1958
Line II-1					
1. FRB monetary authorities, gold and Treasury					
currency	26.6	26.7	27.0	27.9	25.7
2. Plus NBER cash assets of FR banks	21.6	21.7	21.9	22.9	20.8
3. Plus NBER cash assets of Exch. Stab. Fund	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2
4. Total of lines 1-3	48.5	48.7	49.1	50.9	46.7
5. NBER currency and demand deposits	48.6	48.7	49.2	50.9	46.8

Lines II-2 through II-8

No Federal Reserve bank and Treasury monetary fund assets

TABLE 21 (concluded)

	DE 21 (Conclu					
		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Line II-9 6. FRB Fed. Res. bank loans to dome. 7. NBER bank loans, n.e.c.	stic banks	0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Lines II-10 through II-12	No Federal Re assets	serve bank	and Tr	easury	monetar	y fund
Line II-13	No discrepancy	y				
Lines II-14 through II-19	No FR bank an	d Treasury	moneta	ary fund	l assets	
Line II-20 8. FRB miscellaneous assets 9. Plus NBER FR banks uncol. cash 10. Total of lines 8-9 11. NBER other intangible assets	h items, etc.	4.1 4.1 4.1	5.7 5.7 5.7	5.9 5.9 5.9	0.2 5.7 5.9 5.9	5.8 5.8 5.8
Line III-1 12. FRB demand deposits and currency 13. Plus FRB member bank reserve 14. Plus FRB other domestic bank d 15. Plus FRB other vault cash 16. Plus NBER gold certificates 17. Plus NBER FR bank holdings of 18. Plus NBER Exch. Stab. Fund deposits 19. Plus NBER FR bank holdings of 20. Total of lines 12-19 21. NBER currency and demand deposits	eposits FR notes bosits with FR Treasury cur.	0.2	30.0 19.0 0.1 2.7 21.0 0.3 0.2 0.3 73.6 73.7	30.0 19.1 0.1 3.3 21.3 0.4 0.1 0.3 74.6 74.5	30.0 19.0 0.1 3.3 22.1 0.4 0.3 75.2 75.4	30.1 18.5 0.1 3.2 20.0 0.5 0.2 0.3 72.9 73.0
Lines III-2 through III-12	No FR bank an	d Treasury	monet	ary fund	i liabilit	ies
Line III-13 22. FRB miscellaneous liabilities 23. Plus NBER FR banks, other liabilities 24. Total of lines 22-23 25. NBER other liabilities	ilities	0.2 3.6 3.8 3.8	0.2 4.5 4.7 4.7	0.2 4.5 4.7 4.7	0.2 4.6 4.8 4.8	0.2 4.9 5.1 5.1
Line 1: Supplement 5, Table 17L, sum of lines C and D. 2: Table III-5a-1, line II-1. 3: See Table III-5a-2, note to line II-1. 4: Sum of lines 1-3. 5: Table III-5a, line II-1. 6: Supplement 5, Table 17L, line N. 7: Table III-5a, line II-9. 8: Supplement 5, Table 17L, line K. 9: Table III-5a-1, line II-20. 10: Sum of lines 8-9.	12-15: 16: 17-19: 20: 21: 22: 23: 24:	Table III-5a, Supplement Z, and a. See Table III-5a, Supplement Table III-5a, Supplement Table III-5a, Sum of lines Table III-5a, Table III-5a,	5, Table 1-5a-2, n 1-5a-1, n 12-19. , line III- 5, Table -1, line I 22-23.	17L, line to line to line to line to line 1. 17L, line line line line line line line line	ne III-1. ne II-1.	

The differences between the NBER and FRB accounts listed in Table 21 are accounted for by the usual factors: the netting out of intrabanking system assets and liabilities by the FRB and the inclusion of miscellaneous current and other assets and liabilities by the NBER.

Government Pension and Insurance Funds (Table III-5b) are the sum of two components: federal government pension and insurance funds (Table III-5b-1), which include the retire-

ment system for federal employees, the two federal government life insurance funds, and social insurance funds such as the Old Age and Survivors Insurance, railroad retirement, and unemployment insurance trust funds; and state and local government pension and insurance funds (Table III-5b-2), which cover retirement systems for state and local government employees as well as state-administered workmen's compensation funds.

All the assets and liabilities of these funds are included with other government assets in the FRB accounts, and there is therefore no reconciliation table for them here. They do, however, play a part in the reconciliations for the government sectors.

These funds make up almost all of the category government trust funds in *Financial Inter-mediaries* and they are included in financial intermediaries both there and in *A Study of Saving*.

Commercial Banks (Table III-5c) have the same coverage as the FRB flow-of-funds category and as the regularly published FRB series on commercial bank assets and liabilities. Banks in possessions are excluded from this category and placed under other finance below.

Most of the differences between the NBER and FRB estimates (Table 22) involve asset and liability items which disappear in the process of consolidating the banking sector.

TABLE 22

Commercial Banks: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

1954

1955

1956

1957

1958

Line II-1 1. FRB FR bank deposits and vault of 2. Plus NBER interbank deposits, 3. Total of lines 1-2 4. NBER currency and demand deposits.	com. banks	21.3 12.8 34.1 34.0	21.5 12.9 34.4 34.3	22.1 13.7 35.8 35.6	22.4 13.2 35.6 35.5	21.7 13.5 35.2 35.1
Line II-2	Not estimated by banking sector	FRB; ne	etted out	t in con	solidatio	on of
Lines II-3 through II-5	No commercial b	ank asse	ts			
Line II-6 5. FRB consumer credit 6. Plus FRB consumer bank loans hypothecated deposits 7. Total of lines 5-6 8. NBER consumer credit	offset by	10.9 0.5 11.4 11.4	13.2 0.5 13.7 13.7	14.6 0.6 15.2 15.2	15.8 0.6 16.4 16.4	15.9 0.6 16.5 16.6
Line II-7	No commercial b	ank asse	ts			
Line II-8	No discrepancy					
9 FRB bank loans, n.e.c. 10 Plus FRB CCC-guar loans and 11 Plus FRB open-market paper 12 Total of lines 9-11 13 NBER bank loans, n.e.c.	certif. of inter.	34.0 2.3 1.0 37.3 37.5	42.1 1.2 0.8 44.1 44.3	47.9 0.9 0.8 49.6 49.9	50.2 0.5 1.0 51.7 52.0	51.5 0.8 1.1 53.4 53.7
Line II-10	No commercial b	ank asse	ts			
Lines II-11 and II-12	No discrepancy					

	LBLE 22 (Concid	iucu;				
		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Line II-13 14. FRB federal obligations 15. Less FRB nonguar. federal obl 16. Total of lines 14-15 17. NBER U.S. government securities		70.4 1.4 69.0 69.0	63.4 1.8 61.6 61.6	60.2 1.6 58.6 58.6	60.3 2.1 58.2 58.2	68.6 2.2 66.4 66.2
Line II-14	No discrepanc	y				
Line II-15 18. FRB corporate bonds 19. Plus FRB nonguar. federal obl 20. Total of lines 18-19 21. NBER other bonds and notes	igations	1.9 1.4 3.3 3.3	1.7 1.8 3.5 3.5	1.3 1.6 2.9 2.9	1.4 2.1 3.5 3.5	1.3 2.2 3.5 3.5
Lines II-16, II-18, and II-19	No commercia	ıl bank asse	ets			
<u>Line II-17</u>	Not estimated	by FRB				
Line II-20 22. FRB misc. assets and FR bank states and FR bank states. NBER other intangible assets	tock	0.5 11.0	0.5 14.0	0.4 14.9	0.5 15.1	0.6 16.1
Line III-1 24. FRB demand deposits, net 25. Plus FRB Federal Reserve flor 26. Plus NBER cash items in proce 27. Plus NBER interbank dep. of ce 28. Total of lines 24-27 29. NBER currency and demand depo	ess of col. om. banks	112.1 0.8 10.0 12.8 135.7 135.8	114.2 1.6 13.3 12.9 142.0 142.0	115.9 1.7 13.9 13.7 145.2 145.2		120.8 1.3 14.6 13.5 150.2 150.2
Line III-2	No discrepanc	у				
Lines III-3 through III-8	No commercia	ıl bank liab	ilities			
Line III-9	Not estimated banking sec		etted out	in con	solidati	on of
Line III-10	No discrepanc	y; see <i>Supp</i>	lement	5. Tabl	e 32L,	line o
Lines III-11 and III-12	No commercia	al bank liab	ilities			
Line III-13 30. FRB other liabilities 31. NBER other liabilities		0.5 3.0	0.6 3.0	0.6 3.6	0.4 3.9	0.3 3.9
Line 1: Supplement 5, Table 16L, line T. 2: Table IV-b-1c, column 5. 3: Sum of lines 1-2. 4: Table III-5c, line II-1. 5: Supplement 5, Table 16L, line L. 6: Ibid., Table 32L, line z. 7: Sum of lines 5-6. 8: Table III-5c, line II-6. 9-11: Supplement 5, Table 16L, lines N, I. 12: Sum of lines 9-11. 13: Table III-5c, line II-9. 14-15: Supplement 5, Table 16L, lines D a. 16: Line 14 minus line 15.	18-19 20 21 22 23 24-25 26 27, and Q. 27 28 29	Table III-50: Supplement Sum of line Table III-50: Supplement Table III-50: Supplement Table IV-50: Table IV-50: Table IV-50: Sum of line Table III-50: Supplement Table III-50: Table III-50:	5, Tables 18-19. c, line II 5, Table c, line II 5, Table -1h, colu -1c, colu s 24-27. c, line II 5, Table	= 16L, lin -15. = 16L, lin -20. = 16L, lin mn 6. mn 5. I-1. = 16L, lin	nes Ran	d U.

Mutual Savings Banks (Table III-5d) cover the same group as the corresponding category in Supplement 5, and all the estimates agree closely. The only differences (Table 23) are that a few more lines are estimated in the NBER accounts and the calculation of other bonds and notes is slightly different.

TABLE 23

Mutual Savings Banks: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines II-1 and II-2	No discrepancy					
Lines II-3, II-4, II-5, II-7, and $\underline{\text{II}-9}$	No mutual savings	bank as	sets			
Lines II-6 and II-10	No discrepancy; FRB includes in Supplement 5, Table 10L, line P					
Line II-8	Not estimated by FRB					
Lines II-11 and II-12	No discrepancy					
Line II-13	No discrepancy with federal obligations, direct and fully guaranteed, Supplement 5, Table 10L, line H					
Line II-14	No discrepancy					
Line II-15 1. FRB savings inst. (mutual sav. ba and foreign bonds 2. NBER other bonds and notes	nks), corporate	2.9 3.0	2.6 2.7	2.6 2.8	3.2 3.6	3.8 4.1
Line II-16	No mutual savings	bank as	sets			
Line II-17	No discrepancy with	h Supple	ement 5	, Table	e 26L, 1	line I
Lines II-18 and II-19	No mutual savings l	oank as	sets			
Line II-20	Not estimated by F	RB				
Lines III-1, III-3 through III-8, and III-10 through III-12	No mutual savings bank liabilities					
Line III-2	No discrepancy					
Lines III-9 and III-13	Not estimated by F	RB				

Line

Savings and Loan Associations (Table III-5e) have the same coverage as the FRB class. The discrepancies in two lines result from the treatment of loans in process as a loan liability of the associations and from the incorrect location of nonguaranteed federal government securities in other assets in the NBER accounts. These nonguaranteed government se-

^{1:} Supplement 5, Table 25L, line I.

^{2:} Table III-5d, line II-15.

TABLE 24
Savings and Loan Associations: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates
(billion dollars)

	(Siliton dollars)					
		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines II-1, II-6, and II-11	No discrepancy					
Lines II-2 through II-5, II-7 through II-10, and II-12	No savings and loa	ın assoc	ciation a	assets		
Line II-13	No discrepancy will line V (direct an				e 10L,	
Lines II-14 through II-19	No savings and loa	ın assoc	ciation a	assets		
Line II-20 1. FRB misc. financial transactions 2. Plus FRB nonguar. fed. obligati 3. Total of lines 1-2 4. NBER other intangible assets	ons	1.2 0.1 1.3 1.5	1.2 0.1 1.3 1.6		1.3 0.5 1.8 2.1	1.6 0.5 2.1 2.4
Lines III-1, III-3 through III-8, III-11 and III-12	No savings and loa	n assoc	ciation l	iabilitie	es	
Lines III-2 and III-9	No discrepancy					
Line III-10 5. FRB other loans 6. Plus NBER loans in process 7. Total of lines 5-6 8. NBER other loans		0.9 0.8 1.7 1.7	1.4 0.9 2.3 2.3	1.2 0.9 2.1 2.1	1.3 0.9 2.2 2.1	1.3 1.1 2.4 2.4
Line III-13	Not estimated by I	RB				

Line

- 1-2: Supplement 5, Table 10L, lines c and W.
 - 3: Sum of lines 1-2.
 - 4: Table III-5e, line II-20.
 - 5: Supplement 5, Table 10L, line h.

Line

- 6: See note to Table III-5e, line III-10.
- 7: Sum of lines 5-6.
- 8: Table III-5e, line III-10.

curities are mainly notes of the Federal Home Loan Banks and the Federal National Mortgage Association and should have been included under other bonds and notes (line II-15). However, data on these holdings were not shown separately in the Federal Home Loan Bank Board reports used for this sector and appeared in the Treasury Ownership Survey only starting with June 1960 (*Treasury Bulletin*, September 1960) when the survey was expanded to include savings and loan associations.

For FRB estimates of these holdings, see Table III-5e, note to line II-20.

Investment Companies (Table III-5f) include open-end (Table III-5f-1), closed-end (Table III-5f-2), and face-amount investment companies (Table III-5f-3), as does the corresponding sector in *Financial Intermediaries*. The latter source adds an estimate (very small for recent years) for fixed and semifixed investment trust companies.

The Federal Reserve Board includes only the open-end companies among financial institutions, leaving the closed-end in the nonfinancial corporation sector where their main asset, common stock, is netted out in consolidation. No reconciliation with the FRB data is shown here because there is almost perfect agreement between the two estimates.

Credit Unions (Table III-5g), covering both federal- and state-chartered organizations, coincide with the FRB sector, although details of assets and liabilities are not given in Table 10L of Supplement 5. However, most of the FRB estimates can be inferred from the asset and liability tables, usually by subtracting savings and loan associations from a total including them and credit unions. The resulting figures agree closely with the NBER calculations.

Life Insurance Companies (Table III-5h) include all the activities of these companies, including pension plans administered by them and accident, health, and other insurance. The NBER and FRB asset figures, both derived mainly from Institute of Life Insurance data published in the Life Insurance Fact Book, agree closely, with the exception of small offsetting discrepancies for lines II-10 and II-15. In addition, the FRB makes an estimate for life insurance company trade credit (receivables from agents) which never gets above \$.1 billion.

The more substantial differences on the liability side of the life insurance account have been explained earlier in connection with the asset category, private life insurance reserves (Table 4).

Fire and Casualty Insurance Companies (Table III-5i) consist of the groups called "fire and marine insurance" and "casualty and miscellaneous insurance" in Financial Intermediaries, with some adjustments to eliminate overlapping with the life insurance category. The data were derived mainly from various issues of Best's Fire and Casualty Aggregates and Averages.

The FRB did not publish a separate balance sheet for fire and casualty companies in Supplement 5, but merged them into other insurance companies, of which they are, however, the major part. A comparison of the NBER estimates with unpublished FRB worksheets reveals no major discrepancies. There were some small differences such as the assumption by the FRB that all mortgage holdings were of commercial mortgages, whereas the NBER split them between commercial and multifamily.

Noninsured Pension Plans (Table III-5j) cover all plans not administered by insurance companies. Mainly these are corporate pension funds (Table III-5j-1) but estimates are also included for union-administered and multiemployer plans (Table III-5j-2) and for pension funds of nonprofit organizations, such as churches (Table III-5j-3). Estimates for corporate plans were derived from Securities and Exchange Commission surveys, and those for the other funds made use of unpublished data from the National Bureau's pension study and estimates by the U.S. Social Security Administration. These were supplemented by examination of a sample of plans of nonprofit organizations.

The FRB estimates cover the same universe, conceptually, but only corporate funds were calculated before 1950. The rough estimates in *Financial Intermediaries* and *A Study of Saving*, made before the SEC data became available, were intended to cover only the corporate pension funds, although the total assets shown are larger than the aggregate for all funds in Table III-51.

The only major discrepancies between the FRB and NBER balance sheets, the valuation of common stockholdings and the treatment of miscellaneous assets, have been discussed earlier in connection with the asset category private pension and retirement funds (Table 5).

Other Private Insurance (Table III-5k) is the sum of three groups, fraternal orders (Table III-5k-1), group health insurance (Table III-5k-2), and savings bank life insurance (Table III-5k-3). Most of the information on fraternal orders was from the Annual Report of the New York State Insurance Department, combined with aggregate data from the Life Insurance Fact Book and data published by The Fraternal Monitor. The balance sheets for group health insurance (nonprofit medical plans) were calculated from totals given in Best's Insurance Reports and asset distributions supplied by the Blue Cross Commission of the American Hospital Association. Savings bank life insurance aggregates from the Life Insurance Fact Book were distributed among the various asset categories by using data on New York and Massachusetts savings banks.

Group health insurance was not included in the tabulations in *Financial Intermediaries* or A Study of Saving, but is a part of the FRB category other insurance companies. Savings bank life insurance is omitted by the FRB. The total of Tables III-5i and III-5k, however, matches the FRB other insurance category almost exactly in each item.

Finance Companies (Table III-51) consist of sales finance, consumer (or personal) finance, industrial loan, commercial finance (factors), and mortgage companies. The last were shown separately from other finance companies in Financial Intermediaries and included only in the broad definition of financial intermediaries. In A Study of Saving, all finance companies, including mortgage companies, were removed from the financial intermediaries group and combined with financial corporations other than financial intermediaries.

The data for finance companies were all taken from FRB calculations, based in recent

TABLE 25 Finance Companies: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines II-1 and II-6	No discrepand	су				
Lines II-2 through II-5	No finance co	mpany asset	s			
Line II-7	Not estimated	by FRB; in	cluded i	in other	loans	
Lines II-8 and II-9	No finance company assets					
Line II-10 1. FRB other loans 2. Less FRB other loans of com. 3 3. Total of lines 1-2 4. NBER other loans	fin. cos.	2.6 0.9 1.7 1.7	3.8 1.1 2.7 2.6	3.9 1.3 2.6 2.5	4.6 1.5 3.1 3.2	4.5 1.7 2.8 2.8
Line II-11	No discrepand	су				
Lines II-12 through II-20, III-1 through III-8, III-10, III-11, and III-13	No finance co.	mpany asset	s or lia	ıbilities		
Line III-9 5. FRB bank loans, n.e.c. 6. Plus NBER bank-held fin. co. c 7. Total of lines 5-6 8. NBER bank loans, n.e.c.	om. paper	4.6 0.4 5.0 4.9	7.2 0.3 7.5 7.5	6.6 0.4 7.0 6.9	6.2 0.4 6.6 6.6	5.0 0.4 5.4 5.5
Line III-12 9. FRB corporate bonds 10. FRB other loans (open-market pa 11. Less NBER bank-held fin. co. of 12. Total of lines 9-11 13. NBER bonds and notes	• '	4.0 1.5 0.4 5.1 5.1	5.3 1.7 0.3 6.7 6.8	6.4 1.9 0.4 7.9 8.0	7.1 2.3 0.4 9.0 9.1	7.3 2.2 0.4 9.1 9.1
Line 1: Supplement 5, Table 14L, line H. 2: Table III-51, line II-7.		Sum of lines Table III-51,		9.		

- 3: Sum of lines 1-2.
- 4: Table III-51, line II-10.
- 5: Supplement 5, Table 14L, line K.
- 6: Table III-51-a, sum of columns 3 and 7.
- 9-10: Supplement 5, Table 14L, lines J and L.
 - 11: Table III-51-a, sum of columns 3 and 7.
 - 12: Sum of lines 9-11.
 - 13. Table III-51, line III-12.

years on their surveys of finance companies. There are, therefore, no real discrepancies between the two sets of balance sheets. However, several items have been treated differently in the NBER accounts, as can be seen in Table 25. Other loans of commercial finance companies have been listed here as trade credit, and commercial paper liabilities have been included with bonds and notes, rather than other loans, except for bank-held paper, which has been carried as bank loans. Estimates of the distribution of commercial paper are made in Table III-51-a.

Other Finance (Table III-5m) is a heterogeneous group united by nothing but the fact that they are institutions performing financial functions and have not been included in any of the previous groups. The components are brokers and dealers (Table III-5m-1), banks in possessions (Table III-5m-2), agencies of foreign banks (Table III-5m-3), and agricultural credit organizations (Table III-5m-4).

TABLE 26 Brokers and Dealers: Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates (billion dollars)

1954

1955

1956

1957

1958

		1001	1000	1000	1001	1000
Line II-1	lo discrepancy					
Lines II-2 through II-7	lo brokers and dea	alers as	ssets			
Line II-8						
1. FRB security credit		2.7	3.1	3.1	2.8	3.8
2. NBER loans on securities		2.9	3.4			
Lines II-9 through II-12	lo brokers and dea	alers as	sets			
Line II-13		0.0	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.7
3. FRB federal obligations		8.0	0.4		0.7	0.7
4. NBER U.S. government securities		0.8	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.7
Lines II-14 through II-17, combined						
5. FRB other securities		2.2	2.2	1.5	1.6	1.5
6. NBER state and local secur., other	bonds and			1.0	1.0	2.0
notes, corporate stock		1.4	1.4	8.0	1.3	0.9
Lines II-18 and II-19	lo brokers and dea	alers as	sets			
Lines III-1 through III-7	lo brokers and dea	lers li	abilities			
	o stoners and dec		101111101	,		
<u>Line III-8</u>						
7. FRB security loans from agencies		0.4				
8. Plus FRB security loans from ba	nks	2.9			2.6	
9. Total of lines 7-8		3.3				
10. NBER loans on securities		3.3	3.6	3.0	3.1	3.4
Lines III-9, III-11, and III-12	lo brokers and dea	alers li	abilities	5		
Line III-10						
11. FRB customer credit balances		1.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.3
12. NBER other loans		1.6	1.4	1.4	1.5	2.0
		1.0	1.7		1.0	

Line

Brokers and dealers, combining both unincorporated and incorporated businesses, are the most important of these four groups and the only one for which a separate balance sheet is published in Supplement 5. For several categories the NBER estimates differ from those of the FRB despite the fact that they are both based, to a considerable extent, on the same data for New York Stock Exchange member firms (Table III-5m-1a). The ratios used by the NBER to estimate national from N.Y. Stock Exchange totals for customer debit and credit balances appear to be larger than those of the FRB. Some of the NBER ratios come from earlier versions of the FRB accounts.

Banks in possessions are separated from the rest of commercial banking to match the of-

^{1:} Supplement 5, Table 14L, line R.

^{2:} Table III-5m-1, line II-8,

^{3:} Supplement 5, Table 14L, line P.

^{4:} Table III-5m-1, line II-13.

^{5:} Supplement 5, Table 14L, line Q.

^{6:} Table III-5m-1, sum of lines II-14 through II-17.

Line

^{7-8:} Supplement 5, Table 14L, lines U and V.

^{9:} Sum of lines 7-8.

^{10:} Table III-5m-1, line III-8.

^{11:} Supplement 5, Table 14L, line T.

^{12:} Table III-5m-1, line III-10.

ficial monetary statistics, which exclude them. The sector has recently become negligible with the shift of Hawaii and Alaska to statehood. Liabilities on demand and time deposits are calculated in Table III-5m-2, but they do not enter the totals in Tables IV-c-1 and IV-c-2 or the national balance sheets in this form. Instead they are entered there as other liabilities.

Data for banks in possessions are derived from the Annual Report of Comptroller of the Currency. Although Supplement 5 does not show a separate account for these institutions, there is very little possibility that the FRB estimates are different from those shown here.

Agencies of foreign banks are a different case. Very little is known about the distribution of their assets and it is clear that the NBER and FRB estimates are far apart on some items. The NBER and FRB calculations started from the same asset totals but the NBER asset distribution was derived from that of the American Express Company (see Mendelson, *The Flow-of-Funds*, p. I-267, for a discussion of the method).

Agricultural credit organizations consist of livestock loan companies, production credit associations, and national farm loan associations. These are apparently consolidated with the farm business sector in the FRB accounts, which means that their main assets, loans to farmers, are netted out. It is because of this consolidation that agricultural credit organization loans appear as an element in the discrepancy between FRB and NBER other loan assets and liabilities (see Table 11).

State and Local Government (Table III-6) contains all the general government and enterprise activity of political subdivisions of the United States, including the District of Columbia, states, cities, counties, special districts and authorities, and other local government units. It excludes their pension and retirement funds, the unemployment insurance trust funds, and workmen's compensation trust funds, all of which are in Table III-5-b. Other trust and sinking funds, such as those for debt retirement, are included in the government sector.

TABLE 27

State and Local Governments, Including State and Local Pension and Retirement Funds:
Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

	(billion dollars)					
		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines II-1 and II-2	No discrepancy					
Lines II-3 through II-10, II-12	No state and loca	al govern	ment as	sets		
Lines II-11, II-13, and II-14	No discrepancy ([II-13 wit]	h direct	and gu	ar. only)
Line II-15 1. FRB corporate bonds 2. Plus FRB nonguar, federal sec 3. Total of lines 1-2 4. NBER other bonds and notes	urities	2.7 0.1 2.8 2.8	3.2 0.2 3.4 3.4	3.8 0.3 4.1 4.1	4.6 0.4 5.0 5.0	5.6 0.3 5.9 6.0
Lines II-16 and II-17	Not estimated by	FRB				
Lines II-18 through II-20	No state and loca	al govern	ment as	sets		
Lines III-1 through III-4, III-6	No state and loca	al govern	ment lia	abilities	i.	
Line III-5 5. FRB consumer savings in retirer 6. Plus NBER workmen's compen		9.3 0.9	10.6 1.0	12.1 1.1	13.7 1.2	15.6 1.3

(continued)

10.2

9.7

11.6

11.0

13.2

12.5

14.9

14.2

16.9

16.2

7. Total of lines 5-6

8. NBER pension and insurance funds

	195	4 1955	1956	1957	19 58
Line III-6	state and local gover	nment lia	abilities		
Line III-7	o discrepancy				
Lines III-8 through III-11, III-13	state and local gover	nment lia	bilities		
Line III-12 9. FRB state and local obligations 10. Plus FRB other loans (federal gov 11. Plus NBER non-interest-bearing and local govt. debt 12. Total of lines 9-11 13. NBER bonds and notes		0.5 0.6 3 47.1	49.2 0.6 0.6 50.4 50.4	53.8 0.8 0.7 55.3 55.2	59.5 1.0 0.7 61.2 61.2
Line 1-2: Supplement 5, Table 8(F). 3: Sum of lines 1-2. 4: Table III-6, line II-15, plus Table III-5b-line II-15. 5: Supplement 5, Table 8(F), line W. 6: See note to Table III-5b-2, line II-21. 7: Sum of lines 5-6.	Line 8: Table III-5b 9: Supplement 2, 10: Ibid., Table government) 11: See note to 7 12: Sum of lines 13: Table III-6,	5, Table 8(8(F), line ' .'' 'able III-6, 9-11.	F), line T "other lo line III-	ans (fede	eral

The combination of this sector with state and local pension and retirement funds (Table III-5b-2) is equivalent to the FRB state and local government sector. The coverage of this sector in *A Study of Saving* is the same as in the present volume.

The only differences between NBER and FRB data, aside from the location of nonguaranteed U.S. government securities, are in pension and insurance fund liabilities and in bonds and notes outstanding. The former discrepancy appears to be due to a difference in estimating procedure. The FRB figures are apparently based on the Census Bureau reports on Governmental Finances; those shown here are calculated by cumulating receipts and expenditures of the pension funds. The two sources also differ in the treatment of state-administered workmen's compensation funds, which are excluded by the FRB.

The discrepancy for bond liabilities arises from the inclusion here of loans from the federal government (other loans in the FRB accounts) and non-interest-bearing debt.

A large part of the NBER estimates for this sector were taken over directly from the Federal Reserve Board. The original sources, and the sources of information for the split between general government and pension fund assets, were the various Census Bureau publications on government finances, including the 1957 Census of Governments.

Supplementary Table III-6a gives data for state and local governments back to 1900. Only a few changes have been made in the balance sheet from A Study of Saving, the most important one being the addition to structures of federal-aid highways, which were incorrectly omitted in the source.

Federal Government (Table III-7) covers all the departments, agencies, and trust funds of the federal government, with the exceptions noted below. Both general government functions and corporations and credit agencies are included, as well as federal land banks and federal home loan banks, even though they have passed into private ownership. Military assets are excluded, however, and are shown only in supplementary Table III-7a. Also excluded from this sector are the Federal Reserve banks (Table III-5a-1), Treasury monetary funds (Table III-5a-2), and federal government pension and insurance funds (Table III-5b-1).

The federal government sector in *Supplement 5* matches this one closely except that the FRB does not separate federal pension funds. The FRB accounts also do not include Old Age and Survivors' Insurance and unemployment trust fund assets as a federal government liability to the household sector, as was explained earlier.

Several supplementary tables give data for parts of the federal government, for use in computing the total balance sheet or to aid in comparisons with other sources. Table III-7b

TABLE 28

Federal Government, Including Federal Pension and Insurance Funds:
Reconciliation of NBER and FRB Estimates

(billion dollars)

		1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines II-1 and II-2	No discrepancy					100-
Lines II-3 through II-6	No federal governm	nent as	sets			
Line II-7	No discrepancy					
Lines II-8 and II-9	No federal governm	nent as	sets			
Line II-10 1. FRB other loans 2. Plus NBER CCC loans to coops 3. Less FRB fed. govt. loans to st 4. Less FRB fed. govt. loans to no 5. Total of lines 1-4 6. NBER other loans	tates	17.0 0.1 0.5 16.6 16.6	17.8 0.3 0.5 17.6 17.6	18.1 0.1 0.6 17.6 17.6	19.0 0.1 0.8 0.1 18.2 18.3	20.4 0.1 1.0 0.2 19.3 19.4
Lines II-11 and II-12 7. FRB 1- to 4-family and other mo 8. NBER mortgages, nonfarm and fa	arm	4.6 4.5	5.2 5.0	6.0 5.7	7.5 7.2	7.8 7.6
Line II-13	Not estimated by Fi sector	RD, ne	ttea out	IN COMS	Olluano	n oı
Line II-14	No discrepancy; inc	cluded	under "d	other lo	ans'' by	FRB
Lines II-15 through II-18	No federal governm	nent as	sets			
9. FRB misc. assets, capital stock of the plus NBER other assets, postall. Plus NBER other equity in Exc. 12. Total of lines 9-11. NBER equity in other business	al sav. system	0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4	0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4	0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4	0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4	0.2 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.4
Line II-20 14. FRB miscellaneous assets 15. Plus FRB corp. profits tax liak government 16. Less FRB capital stock of Exc 17. Total of lines 14-16 18. NBER other intangible assets		3.9 15.5 0.2 19.2 19.2	4.1 19.3 0.2 23.2 23.2	4.6 17.6 0.2 22.0 22.0	5.3 15.4 0.2 20.5 20.5	5.6 12.9 0.2 18.3 18.3
Lines III-1 and III-2	No discrepancy					
Lines III-3 and III-4	No federal governm	nent lia	bilities			
Line III-5 19. FRB cons. sav., life ins. and reti 20. Plus FRB OASI fund assets 21. Plus NBER unemployment trus 22. Total of lines 19-21 23. NBER pension and insurance fund	st fund assets	15.4 20.6 8.7 44.7 45.5	15.9 21.7 8.8 46.4 47.4	16.9 22.5 9.1 48.5 49.5	17.5 22.4 9.1 49.0 50.6	18.5 21.9 7.1 47.5 49.9

TABLE 28 (concluded)

		BLE 26 (Conclude	u)				
			1954	1955	1956	1957	1958
Lines	s III-6 and III-8	No federal govern	nment lia	bilities			
Line	<u>III-7</u>	No discrepancy					
<u>Line</u>	<u>II</u> I-9	No discrepancy;	listed un	der "oth	ner loan	s" by F	RB
Lines	s III-10 and III-11	No federal govern	nment lia	abilities			
Line	III-12						
	FRB federal obligations		179.3	180.4	175.3	176.7	185.7
2 5.	Plus FRB consumer-held savin	gs bonds	50.0	50.2	50.1	48.2	47.7
26.	Plus NBER U.S. govt. secur. h						
	pension and insurance funds	•	44.4	46.5	48.4	49.4	48.4
27.	Plus NBER U.S. govt. secur. h	eld by fed. govt.	5. 2	5.2	5.5	5.9	5.8
28.	Plus FRB demand notes issued	to IMF	1.5	1.6	1.1	0.7	0.8
	Total of lines 24-28		280.4	283.9	280.4	280.9	288.4
30. 1	NBER bonds and notes		280.5	284.0	280.5	280.9	288.5
Line	II <u>I-13</u>						
31.	FRB misc. liabilities, other		0.8	0.9	1.0	1.4	1.3
32 .	Plus FRB misc. assets, deposit	ts of savings and					
	loan assoc. at FHLB		8.0	0.7	0.7	0.7	8.0
33.	Less FRB unallocated foreign d	leposit liability					
	of federal govt.		0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3
34.	Less NBER Exch. Stab. Fund de	eposits with					
	Treasurer of U.S.					0.2	
	Total of lines 31-34		1.4	1.4	1.4	1.6	1.8
36.	NBER other liabilities		1.4	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.8
Line		-					
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E), line v.						
	Table III-7d, column 6.						
	Supplement 5, Table 32L, lines n and Sum of lines 1 and 2, minus lines 3 ar						
	Table III-7, line II-10, plus Table III-						
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E).	, 11110 11 10.					
	Table III-7, sum of lines II-11 and II-	12.					
	Supplement 5, Table 34L, line o.						
	Table III-7b, line II-20.						
	See Table III-7, note to line II-19. Sum of lines 9-11.						
	Table III-7, line II-19.						
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E).						
15:	FRB worksheets.						
	Supplement 5, Table 34L, line o.						
	Sum of lines 14 and 15, minus line 16.						
	Table III-7, line II-20. Supplement 5, Table 8(E).						
	See note to Table III-5b-1, line II-1.						
	Sum of lines 19-21.						
23: 7	Table III-5b-1, line III-5.						
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E), lines c and	a.					
	Fable III-5b-1, line II-13. Fable III-7, line II-13.						
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E).						
	Sum of lines 24-28.						
30: 1	Table III-7, line III-12.						
	Supplement 5, Table 8(E).						
	<i>bid.</i> ., Table 34L, line R. See note to Table III-5a-2, line II -2 0.						
	Fable III-7, line II-20.						
1	,	39					

is a balance sheet for the postal savings system, Table III-7c for government lending and credit agencies, and Table III-7e for the federal land banks. Table III-7d gives details on the distribution of federal government loans.

Another supplementary table (III-7f) is a reconstruction of the earlier balance sheets in A Study of Saving. Balance sheets for the federal government, government corporations and credit agencies, and the postal savings system were added together, and assets and liabilities of Treasury monetary funds were subtracted. Items for personal income and estate and gift tax accruals, equity in government corporations, and miscellaneous liabilities of the federal government were removed from the balance sheet and revisions were made in mortgage holdings.

The classification of sectors for Sections V, VI, and VII is identical with that described here for Section III and therefore requires no separate discussion. Most of the flow-of-funds categories are similarly described by the definitions of assets and liabilities. The ones which involve separate conceptual or estimative problems—tangible and equity flows—are discussed further in the notes to Section VIII.

Robert E. Lipsey